# It's Time for the U.S. to Decriminalize Drug Use and Possession

A Drug Policy Alliance release. We are the Drug Policy Alliance and we envision new drug policies grounded in science, compassion, health and human rights.

Please join us.

Copyright © July 2017 Drug Policy Alliance

All rights reserved Printed in the United States of America This report is also available in PDF format on the Drug Policy Alliance website: drugpolicy.org/decriminalize No dedicated funds were or will be received from any individual, foundation or corporation in the writing of this report.

## **Table of Contents**

- 2 Executive Summary
- 4 What is Decriminalization?
- 4 Definition
- 4 What Does Decriminalization Look Like in Practice?
- 6 Why is Criminalization a Problem?
- 6 Mass Criminalization
- 7 Mass Incarceration
- 7 Mass Supervision and Surveillance
- 7 Costs
- 8 Unjust Racial and Ethnic Discrimination and Disparities
- 8 The Impact of Criminalization on Individual and Public Health
- 10 Immigration Consequences
- 10 Additional Consequences
- 11 Drug Courts Are Not The Answer
- 13 Why is Decriminalization the Solution?
- 13 The Benefits of Decriminalization
- 13 Addressing Four Important Questions About Decriminalization
- 18 Stepping Stones to Decriminalization: Efforts to Reduce Drug Penalties in the U.S.
- 18 "Defelonizing" Drug Possession
- 18 Decriminalizing Marijuana Possession
- 19 Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (LEAD)
- 20 911 Good Samaritan Laws
- 22 Other Countries' Experiences with Decriminalization
- 22 Portugal
- 26 A Snapshot of Other Experiences with Drug Decriminalization
- 27 Appendix I: Growing National and International Support for Decriminalizing Drug Use and Possession
- 31 Endnotes

## **Executive Summary**

By any measure and every metric, the U.S. war on drugs – a constellation of laws and policies that seeks to prevent and control the use and sale of drugs primarily through punishment and coercion – has been a colossal failure with tragic results. Indeed, federal and state policies that are designed to be "tough" on people who use and sell drugs have helped over-fill our jails and prisons, permanently branded millions of people as "criminals", and exacerbated drug-related death, disease and suffering – all while failing at their stated goal of reducing problematic drug use.

This report offers a roadmap for how to begin to unwind our failed drug war. It focuses on one practical step that can and should be taken to avoid many of the harms that flow from punitive prohibitionist drug laws and to promote proven, effective health-based interventions.

**Drug decriminalization** is a critical next step toward achieving a rational drug policy that puts science and public health before punishment and incarceration. Decades of evidence has clearly demonstrated that decriminalization is a sensible path forward that would reap vast human and fiscal benefits, while protecting families and communities.

Drug decriminalization is defined here as the elimination of criminal penalties for drug use and possession, as well as the elimination of criminal penalties for the possession of equipment used for the purpose of introducing drugs into the human body, such as syringes. Throughout this report, we will use the phrase "drug possession" to include drug possession, drug use, and possession of paraphernalia used for the purpose of introducing drugs into the human body.

Ideally, drug decriminalization entails the elimination of all punitive, abstinence-based, coercive approaches to drug use; however, for purposes of this report, the term encompasses a spectrum of efforts to eliminate criminal penalties, even if such efforts do not eliminate all forms of coercion entirely. Drug decriminalization also ideally entails the removal of criminal penalties for low-level sales, given that the line between seller and user is often blurred (this subject and the broader issue of people who sell drugs will be addressed in a subsequent DPA report). This report is the product of a comprehensive review of the public health and criminology literature, an analysis of drug policies in the U.S. and abroad, and input from experts in the fields of drug policy and criminal justice. By highlighting the benefits of eliminating criminal penalties for drug use and possession, we seek to provide policymakers, community leaders and advocates with evidence-based options for a new approach.

Most countries' drug laws exist on a spectrum between criminalization and decriminalization. Some have eliminated penalties for possession of all drugs, while some countries (and U.S. states) have eliminated penalties only for marijuana possession. Still other countries and states have taken steps in the right direction by reducing criminal penalties, without eliminating them entirely.

The problems that result from the criminalization of small amounts of drugs are detailed in the body of this report but can be summarized as follows:

- The criminalization of drug possession is a major driver of arrests and pretrial detention in the United States. Each year, U.S. law enforcement makes nearly 1.5 million drug arrests – more arrests than for all violent crimes combined. The overwhelming majority – more than 80 percent – are for possession only and involve no violent offense. Each year hundreds of thousands of people are held in jail for drug possession, most of them pretrial.
- Hundreds of thousands of people remain under some form of correctional supervision (probation, parole, or other post-prison supervision) for drug possession offenses.
- Discriminatory enforcement of drug possession laws has produced profound racial and ethnic disparities at all levels of the criminal justice system.
- For noncitizens, including legal permanent residents (many of whom have been in the U.S. for decades and have jobs and families) possession of any amount of any drug (except firsttime possession of less than 30 grams of marijuana) can trigger automatic detention and deportation – often without the possibility of return.
- People convicted of drug law violations face a host of additional consequences, including the loss of federal financial aid, eviction from public housing, disqualification from a wide range of occupational licenses, loss of the right to vote, and denial of public assistance.

By contrast, a policy of drug decriminalization:

- Reduces the number of people arrested, incarcerated, or otherwise swept into the justice system, thereby allowing people, their families and communities to avoid the many harms that flow from drug arrests, incarceration, and the lifelong burden of a criminal record;
- Alleviates racial, ethnic and income-based disparities in the criminal justice system;
- Improves the cost-effectiveness of limited public health resources;
- Revises the current law enforcement incentive structure and redirects resources to prevent serious and violent crime;
- Creates a climate in which people who are using drugs problematically have an incentive to seek treatment;
- Improves treatment outcomes (when treatment is called for);
- Removes barriers to the implementation of evidencebased practices to reduce the potential harms of drug use, such as drug checking (to test for adulterants in illicit substances); and
- Improves relationships between law enforcement agencies and the communities they have sworn to protect and serve.

Many of the concerns often raised in opposition to drug decriminalization are not supported by evidence. Available empirical evidence from the U.S. and around the world strongly suggests that eliminating criminal penalties for possession of some or all drugs would not significantly increase rates of drug use. As with drug use rates, crime rates do not appear to correlate to the severity of criminal penalties. Use of the criminal justice system to get people into treatment is not necessary for the majority of people who use drugs problematically. And though many people believe that so-called "hard drugs" like cocaine, heroin, and methamphetamine are more addictive than other substances, the data suggests that most people who use these drugs never become addicted. But for those who do, community-based treatment outside of the criminal justice system is the most effective way to keep them safe.

There have been many steps toward decriminalization that have reduced drug penalties in the U.S., and most of them have been successful at reducing rates of addiction without increasing crime. Some of these efforts include "defelonizing" drug possession by reducing it to a misdemeanor, decriminalizing or legalizing marijuana possession, establishing pre-arrest diversion programs such as Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (LEAD), and enacting 911 Good Samaritan laws, which allow for limited decriminalization of drug use and possession at the scene of an overdose for those who are witnesses and call for emergency medical assistance. But more ambitious efforts are needed in the U.S.

Several other countries have experience with decriminalization, most notably Portugal. The Portuguese policy emerged in reaction to an escalation of problematic drug use – in particular unsafe injection drug use and its impact on public safety and health. While overall prevalence rates of drug use and drug-related illness in Portugal have always been on the lower end of the European average, in 1999 Portugal had the highest rate of drug-related AIDS in the European Union and the second highest prevalence of HIV among people who inject drugs, and drug-related deaths were increasing dramatically.

In 2001, Portuguese legislators enacted a comprehensive form of decriminalization – eliminating criminal penalties for lowlevel possession and consumption of all drugs and reclassifying these activities as administrative violations. Today in Portugal, no one is arrested or incarcerated for drug possession, many more people are receiving treatment, and there is a reduced incidence of HIV/AIDS and drug overdose – all without any significant increases in rates of crime or drug use.

This report makes the following recommendations for local, state and federal policymakers in the U.S.:

- Congress and U.S. states should eliminate federal and state criminal penalties and collateral sanctions for drug use, drug possession for personal use, and possession of paraphernalia intended for consuming drugs.
- Congress should amend federal law to de-schedule marijuana and remove it from the federal Controlled Substances Act.
- Administrative penalties such as civil asset forfeiture, administrative detention, driver's license suspension (absent impairment), excessive fines, and parental termination or child welfare interventions (absent harm to children) – run counter to the intent of a decriminalization policy and should not be imposed.
- Decriminalization policies like other drug policies generally function far more effectively when accompanied by robust and diverse harm reduction and treatment-on-demand programs, including medication-assisted treatment.
- Local and state governments should adopt pre-booking diversion and 911 Good Samaritan policies to prioritize public health over punishment and incarceration.

## What is Decriminalization?

### Definition

This report defines drug decriminalization as the elimination of criminal penalties for drug use and possession, as well as criminal penalties for the possession of equipment used for the purpose of introducing drugs into the human body. Ideally, drug decriminalization entails the elimination of all punitive, abstinence-based, coercive approaches to drug use; however, for the purposes of this report, the term encompasses a spectrum of efforts to eliminate criminal penalties, even if such efforts to do not eliminate all forms of coercion entirely. Throughout this report, we will use the phrase "drug possession" to include drug possession, drug use, and possession of equipment used for the purpose of introducing drugs into the human body.

Under such a legal and policy regime, drug possession is not a criminal offense, while drug production, trafficking, and distribution, driving under the influence, or other conduct that goes beyond simple possession or use – particularly conduct that harms or poses an unreasonable threat of harm to others – remain criminal offenses.<sup>1</sup> Drug decriminalization does not affect existing criminal laws other than those specifically addressing use and possession.

Decriminalization not only means eliminating traditional criminal penalties for drug possession, but also moving beyond court, prosecutor or police-centered responses to problematic drug use, such as court-ordered and probationsupervised treatment.

As we demonstrate throughout this report, decriminalization is a sound, effective solution to some of the myriad fiscal, public health, social, and public safety issues caused by the criminalization of drug possession.

Decriminalization means that people are no longer arrested or incarcerated merely for possessing or using a drug. Legalization refers not only to the elimination of criminal penalties for possession but also to the regulation and control of legal production and sales to adults without a prescription – including limits on use and sales, licensing requirements, quality controls, consumer protections, taxation and/or advertising restrictions. Legalization today typically refers to the approaches society tends to take with regard to alcohol, tobacco, and, increasingly, marijuana. This report addresses – and endorses – a policy of drug decriminalization; it does not examine or discuss the legalization of drugs.

### What Does Decriminalization Look Like in Practice?

Most countries' drug laws exist on a spectrum between criminalization and decriminalization. Some have eliminated penalties for possession of all drugs, while some countries (and U.S. states) have eliminated penalties only for marijuana possession. Still other countries and states have taken steps in the right direction by reducing criminal penalties without eliminating them entirely.

Decriminalization models differ widely in terms of:

- the threshold drug quantities chosen to distinguish between personal use and sales or trafficking offenses;
- the institutions or actors (health professionals, judges, prosecutors, police, etc.) that decide what separates mere possession from sales or trafficking, if no formal threshold limits are established;
- the type and severity of administrative sanctions that can be imposed;
- the role of the health system;
- the extent to which decriminalization is accompanied by an expansion of treatment, harm reduction, health and social support services; and
- the degree to which the decriminalization law is faithfully implemented.

Some countries have decriminalized by enacting legislation; in others, courts have decriminalized drug possession by issuing a judicial decision. Other countries, like the Netherlands, have effectively decriminalized in practice without formally changing their drug laws – sometimes called *de facto* (as opposed to *de jure*) decriminalization. The Netherlands model relies on changes in administrative or law enforcement practices that are not formally codified.

# The decriminalization of drug use needs to be considered as a core element in any public health strategy.

- Organization of American States, 2013

The question of whether to establish drug quantity cut-off points ("thresholds") to distinguish between personal drug possession and drug distribution or intent to distribute is pivotal to the form a decriminalization regime will take.<sup>2</sup> Jurisdictions often set thresholds unrealistically low, which can result in large numbers of people who possess drugs for their own use being wrongly arrested and prosecuted for drug trafficking and facing lengthy prison sentences. To avoid this pitfall, it is critical to understand how and in what quantities each type of drug typically is made available for purchase on the illicit market, and set thresholds with a wide enough margin to ensure that all people with no intent to sell drugs are protected from arrest and prosecution.

While clearly defined threshold limits are the norm among countries with decriminalization laws on their books, other, potentially more efficacious options exist. Many European countries have experimented with threshold amounts, and some impose no legal threshold, instead allowing judges to make determinations about whether someone may have been trafficking on a case-by-case basis.<sup>3</sup> The bottom line is that thresholds may be appropriate if they are set at high enough levels; as usual, the devil is in the details.

Because laws punishing the use or possession of drugs in "public view" are subject to discretionary abuses by law enforcement, the best decriminalization policies eliminate criminal penalties for possession in public as well as in private (even if they retain some penalties for use in public, as is commonly the case with alcohol). New York State's experience with decriminalizing marijuana provides a cautionary tale regarding public view and drug enforcement practices. In 1977, New York State decriminalized possession of less than one ounce of marijuana in *private*, while possession in *public* view remains a criminal offense. Because of the widespread use of "stop and frisk" police tactics in New York City, many people, the overwhelming majority of them Black or Latino, are stopped by the police without suspicion and forced to reveal the contents of their pockets or bags in public. If they are carrying marijuana, they are then arrested for having less than an ounce of marijuana in public view. Under stop and frisk, marijuana arrests skyrocketed (between 2002 and 2013, stops and interrogations increased 448 percent).<sup>4</sup> The New York example is demonstrative of two equally important points: (1) legislatures seeking to decriminalize need to decriminalize *both* private possession and public possession; and (2) *de jure* decriminalization is often not enough – changes in law enforcement *practices* are needed as well.

When putting decriminalization policies into place that do not go as far as full decriminalization, it is important that any punishment that remains in place not be worsened. For example, it would be inappropriate to *decrease* a crime from a felony to a misdemeanor while simultaneously *increasing* the punishment that may be imposed. It would also be inappropriate to decrease a crime from a misdemeanor to an infraction while simultaneously *increasing* the administrative penalties that may be imposed.

In summary, for decriminalization policies to be effective, jurisdictions should:

- Carefully calibrate drug quantity thresholds to ensure that people who merely possess drugs for personal use are not ensnared;
- Eliminate criminal penalties for possession in public as well as in private;
- Consider forms of de facto decriminalization by changing administrative and law enforcement practices (for example, the Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (LEAD) program, discussed later).

## Why is Criminalization a Problem?

### Mass Criminalization

The criminalization of drug possession is a major driver of arrests in the United States. Each year, U.S. law enforcement makes nearly 1.5 million drug arrests – more arrests than for all violent crimes combined. The overwhelming majority – more than 80 percent – are for possession *only* and involve no violent offense.<sup>5</sup> In 2015, nearly 40 percent of drug arrests (more than 570,000 people) were for marijuana possession, and 45 percent (over 674,000 people) were for possession of drugs other than marijuana.<sup>6</sup> Just 16 percent of all drug arrests were for sale or manufacture of any drug.<sup>7</sup> When people are arrested for possession of small amounts of drugs, they are sucked into the quicksand of the criminal justice system, whether or not a prosecution is pursued, a conviction is obtained, or jail time is served.

It is worth noting that the brunt of this is borne disproportionately by poor people. Wealthy people typically have the resources to address problematic drug use voluntarily and privately; it is primarily poor people whose problematic drug use ensnares them in the criminal justice system.

### U.S. Drug Arrests, 2015



- 1948-1948 1

Possession: Other

Sales or Manufacturing (all drugs)

Possession: Marijuana

Possession: Heroin or Cocaine Possession: Synthetic or Manufactured Drugs

Source: Federal Bureau of Investigation, 2015.8



### U.S. Drug Arrests, 1980-2015

Source: Federal Bureau of Investigation, Uniform Crime Reports.9

### Mass Incarceration

As of 2015, approximately 87,000 people were held in jail for drug possession on any given day, and most of them (63,000) were held *pretrial.*<sup>10</sup> People incarcerated on a pretrial basis have not been convicted of any crime, meaning they are legally innocent. Incarcerating a legally innocent person for drug use or possession is unfair,<sup>11</sup> unnecessary,<sup>12</sup> and expensive.<sup>13</sup>

A person *convicted of* drug use or possession may also be incarcerated in state prison or local jails. Or they may be required or encouraged to enter a court-supervised program that relies on coerced treatment or places them under correctional or judicial supervision for several months or years. Although most people who are arrested for drug possession do not end up in prison, a disturbing number of people do.

Approximately 46,000 people were locked up in a state prison for drug possession on any given day, as of 2015.<sup>14</sup> In addition, in criminal cases that do not involve drug possession, *prior* drug possession convictions are often used to enhance jail and prison sentences.

## Although most people who are arrested for drug possession do not end up in prison, a disturbing number of people do.

### Mass Supervision and Surveillance

In 2015, there were approximately 3.8 million people on probation and 870,000 on parole in the U.S., and approximately one in 53 Americans was under some form of correctional supervision (probation, parole, or other postprison supervision).<sup>15</sup> Available data do not specify how many people are under supervision for drug possession (as opposed to other drug offenses), yet evidence suggests that possession offenses comprise a substantial portion numbering in the hundreds of thousands.<sup>16</sup> In 2015, one quarter of all people on probation in the U.S. – or nearly one million (947,450) – and almost one-third of those on parole (269,855 people) had a drug law violation as their most serious offense.<sup>17</sup> Probation and parole revocations are key drivers of mass criminalization and incarceration.<sup>18</sup> There are unknown thousands of people who are on probation and parole for drug and non-drug offenses but who are re-incarcerated for a minor drug possession offense or for failing a court-mandated drug test. Precise data do not exist, but the few studies that have been conducted on this population reveal that minor drug use or possession is a primary reason that people on probation or parole are incarcerated or re-incarcerated.<sup>19</sup> To get a sense of the potential scope of this problem, consider that 29.1 percent of those on probation (1,283,000 people) and 23 percent of people on parole (334,000 people) reported using an illicit drug in the past month, mostly marijuana.<sup>20</sup> Depending on their state, most of these people could, at any time, be drug tested, produce a positive test result and face additional penalties, including a new prison or jail sentence or increased term of supervision.

Probation terms can be lengthy – it is not unheard of for people to be on probation for up to twenty-five years.<sup>21</sup> And while serving time under supervision is better than being behind bars, supervision can involve onerous conditions, including GPS monitoring, which amounts to placing people under constant surveillance.<sup>22</sup> The onerousness of these conditions should not be underestimated. People under supervision are subjected to almost constant surveillance and, especially given recent advances in technology, are under nearly constant oversight by criminal justice officials.

### Costs

The total costs of criminalizing drug possession are difficult to calculate, but we know that they are exorbitant. Criminalizing drug possession and placing people in prison, jail or on probation or parole is an enormous waste of criminal justice resources that comes with a staggering price tag for U.S. taxpayers. In a 2010 report published by the Cato Institute, Harvard economist Jeffrey Miron estimated that the cost of policing low-level drug possession offenses exceeds \$4.28 billion annually – and this does not include the massive additional costs of incarceration, supervision and court processing.<sup>23</sup> Miron also provides a state-by-state breakdown of drug-related taxpayer expenditures – California spends over a billion dollars; Florida and Georgia each spend hundreds of millions. At an average annual cost of approximately \$31,000 per person, the price tag for incarcerating people in state prisons for possession is likely well over \$1 billon,<sup>24</sup> with even larger sums spent at the local level.<sup>25</sup> In contrast, the average cost to obtain a GED is \$120.<sup>26</sup>

## The criminalization of drug possession is a costly affair, and decriminalization would likely save U.S. taxpayers billions of dollars.

## Unjust Racial and Ethnic Discrimination and Disparities

Although rates of reported drug use do not differ substantially among people of different races and ethnicities, Black people are far more likely to be criminalized for drug possession and use than white people.<sup>27</sup> African Americans experience discrimination at every stage of the criminal justice system and are more likely to be stopped, searched, arrested, convicted, harshly sentenced and saddled with a criminal record for mere possession. These dynamics have clear outcomes. Black people comprise 13 percent of the U.S. population.<sup>28</sup> But Black people comprise 29 percent of those arrested for drug law violations,<sup>29</sup> nearly 35 percent of those incarcerated in state or federal prison for any drug law violations,<sup>30</sup> and roughly 35 percent of those incarcerated in state prison for possession only.<sup>31</sup>

Discriminatory enforcement of drug possession laws has produced profound racial and ethnic disparities at all levels of the criminal justice system. National-level data on arrests of Latinos are incomplete (what data are available are often inaccurate, because Latinos are routinely undercounted in national criminal justice statistics, or are categorized as white).<sup>32</sup> Yet among drug arrest incidents in 2015 for which ethnicity was reported, more than 20 percent of those arrested were Latino.<sup>33</sup> Where available, state and local level data also show that Latinos are disproportionately arrested and incarcerated for drug possession violations.<sup>34</sup> Disparities are less stark for Latinos than for Black people, but they clearly exist. And it has been demonstrated that likelihood of arrest is associated with skin tone.<sup>35, 36</sup>

## The Impact of Criminalization on Individual and Public Health

Though some individuals may access helpful services or treatment through the criminal justice system, available evidence suggests that using the criminal justice agencies to address problematic drug use overall causes more harm than good, and positive health outcomes do not usually result from criminal justice involvement.

The criminalization of people who use drugs dramatically heightens risks to individual and public health. Criminalization contributes to the marginalization of people who use drugs, making it more difficult to engage them in treatment, health care and other vital services that are proven to transform and save lives.<sup>37</sup> Aggressive law enforcement practices and harsh criminal penalties for drug possession drive many people into environments where risks of contracting or transmitting HIV and hepatitis C are greatly elevated, and away from testing, prevention, treatment and other effective public health services.<sup>38</sup>

Of course, the most appropriate and effective way for people to access services and treatment related to drug use is through the healthcare system. To truly address problematic drug use efficiently and effectively, health services – including substance abuse and mental health services – must be accessible.

Fear of arrest is also the most common reason that witnesses do not immediately call 911 in the event of an overdose.<sup>39</sup> Overdose has now surpassed motor vehicle accidents as the leading cause of injury-related death in the U.S.



### **Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Drug Possession Enforcement**

Sources: United States Census Bureau, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Results from the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, Federal Bureau of Investigation, 2015 Crime in the United States. \* Exact numbers are difficult to report as Latinos are routinely undercounted in criminal justice statistics or are categorized as white.

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 52,404 people – an average of 143 people a day – died from a drug overdose in 2015.<sup>40</sup> Overdose risk is significantly greater following an extended period of abstinence or reduced use – such as after spending time in a rehabilitation facility or behind bars.<sup>41</sup>

Criminal penalties for drug use and possession have increased the dangers that problematic drug use can pose to individuals and communities. Criminalization promotes and reinforces stigma against people who use drugs and who struggle with drug misuse.<sup>42</sup> In turn, stigma makes it easier for government officials to further criminalize people who use drugs.<sup>43</sup> It is often argued that stigma for drug users is good thing, either because drug use is inherently immoral or because stigma provides an incentive to avoid drug use. But in fact, stigma can be a formidable barrier to a wide range of opportunities and rights with often devastating consequences.

People who are stigmatized for their drug involvement can endure social rejection, labeling, stereotyping and discrimination, including denial of employment, housing or treatment<sup>44</sup> – even in the absence of any concrete negative consequences associated with their drug use. Stigma is a major factor preventing individuals from seeking and completing drug treatment<sup>45</sup> and from utilizing harm reduction services such as syringe access programs<sup>46</sup> – although the social exclusion created by stigma often increases the need for such continued

services.<sup>47</sup> In addition, social isolation can itself be a driver of problematic drug use, so further isolating problematic drug users is counter-productive. In short, people who use drugs, even non-problematically, already suffer from stigma in ways that have material consequences; criminalization of drugs merely exacerbates that problem.

### **Immigration Consequences**

For noncitizens, including legal permanent residents (many of whom have been in the United States for decades and have jobs and families), possession of any amount of any drug (except first-time possession of less than 30 grams of marijuana) can trigger automatic detention and deportation – often without the possibility of return.<sup>48</sup> Nearly 20,000 people were deported in 2013 for simple drug possession.<sup>49</sup>

A 2015 report by Human Rights Watch found that deportations for drug possession offenses increased significantly in recent years: from 2007 to 2012, deportations for possession offenses jumped by 43 percent. During this period, 266,000 people were deported for any drug offense, of whom 38 percent – over 100,000 people – were deported for a possession offense.<sup>50</sup>

Minor drug possession charges can also lead to inadmissibility from entering the U.S. for noncitizen residents – meaning that, even if a minor offense does not lead to incarceration or deportation, it can prevent a legal permanent resident from ever returning to the U.S. if they leave the country for any reason.<sup>51</sup>

What is more, the simple admission of past drug use – absent arrest or conviction for any drug-related crime – has been cited by U.S. consular officials as grounds for denying visas to would-be visitors to the United States.

Diversion programs like drug courts that require people to plead guilty as a condition of participation only exacerbate this problem. Any noncitizen (including a legal permanent resident) who pleads guilty to a drug law violation (except for first-time possession of less than 30 grams of marijuana) is at risk of being permanently deported.<sup>52</sup> Moreover, it is not clear that this risk is assuaged if and when the guilty plea or conviction is sealed or expunged, because federal law enforcement authorities may be able to access and act upon "sealed" or even "expunged" state records.

### **Additional Consequences**

In addition to all of the above, a drug possession conviction can also result in many additional consequences, including, but not limited to:

- Loss of federal financial aid, for one year, two years or indefinitely, based on whether it is a first, second or third offense;
- Eviction from public housing for those convicted *and* other members of the household, even if they had no prior knowledge of the activity;
- Disqualification from a wide range of occupational licenses, government grants, professional certifications and other opportunities;
- Denial of public assistance like TANF and SNAP.53

The brunt of all of this falls disproportionately on poor people and people of color.  $^{54}\,$ 

## **Drug Courts Are Not The Answer**

Drug courts were created by well-intentioned judges frustrated at having few alternatives to lengthy terms of incarceration when people came before them charged with simple drug offenses. Drug courts have since spread across the country: as of 2016, there were more than 3,000 such courts operating in the 50 states and U.S. Territories.<sup>55</sup> Half of all U.S. counties have at least one operating drug court.

Today, many critics of decriminalization base their position on the existence of drug courts.<sup>56</sup> They argue that because drug courts can divert and treat people arrested and charged with drug offenses there is no need for systematic legal or policy change.

However, as an increasing body of research shows, drug courts actually perpetuate many of the harms associated with criminalization. As discussed below and elsewhere,<sup>57</sup> evidence in favor of drug courts is decidedly lacking. Where there is data, it shows that most drug courts fail to offer real treatment to people in actual need of it, and they often inflict more (not less) punishment on people suffering drug problems than traditional criminal courts. Though there may be some anecdotal evidence that drug courts can help in individual cases, that is not a convincing rationale for expanding drug courts systemically.

### Unconvincing Evidence for Drug Courts

The data collected on drug courts is quite limited and plagued by methodological problems, and the studies published on drug courts show inconclusive or mixed results, at best. And because every drug court is unique (there are no nation-wide mandatory standards) it is impossible to claim that the successes of any single drug court translate to other drug courts, even those in the same or neighboring jurisdictions.<sup>58</sup>

On balance, drug courts (like other forms of coerced treatment) appear to be no more effective than voluntary treatment in terms of treatment engagement, retention, completion and reductions in drug use. However, they are typically far more expensive and coercive than voluntary treatment.<sup>59</sup>

Many Drug Courts Are Abstinence-Only and Increase Criminal Justice Involvement

In spite of their proliferation, drug courts have not reduced rates of incarceration or criminal justice involvement in the U.S.<sup>60</sup> Drug court judges routinely end treatment and incarcerate drug-dependent people who suffer relapse.<sup>61</sup> Yet relapse is central to the medical definition of drug addiction: a chronic, relapsing disorder. Drug courts' systematic reliance on jail sanctions as a response to drug use relapse contravenes fundamental principles of medicine and public health. In addition, drug courts frequently jail people who violate technical program rules like attendance at Narcotics Anonymous meetings. One result of drug courts' heavy reliance on incarceration is that drug court participants often end up serving more time behind bars than those whose cases are handled by conventional criminal courts.62

Drug courts contribute to other problems in the criminal justice systems as well. One is that most drug courts require participants to plead guilty as a condition of program participation, which means that even people who are factually innocent of any drug law violation might end up behind bars, and suffer the collateral consequences of a criminal conviction, if they do not complete the program.<sup>63</sup> Another is that drug courts appear to manifest the same racial disparities that exist within other parts of the criminal justice system - drug courts generally do a poor job of collecting and reporting relevant data, but what limited numbers are available indicate that people of color are less likely to be admitted to drug court, less likely to successfully graduate from drug court, and more likely to receive a punitive sanction for failing drug court.64

Drug Courts – An Example of Coercive Treatmen continued



Drug Courts Provide Inadequate Treatment and Often Deny Proven Treatment Modalities

Most drug courts fall woefully short of providing appropriate, quality treatment services to the people most in need in a manner that effectively promotes public safety and health.

For example, opioid substitution treatments such as methadone and buprenorphine have been long recognized by leading U.S. and international health agencies to be the most – and in several circumstances, the only – effective medical intervention for reducing problematic opioid drug use, the spread of HIV/AIDS, overdose deaths and crime.<sup>65</sup>

Yet the vast majority of drug courts prevent opioiddependent people from receiving opioid substitution treatment,<sup>66</sup> despite the fact that the National Association of Drug Court Professionals has called for the use of opioid substitution treatments in appropriate circumstances.<sup>67</sup> Opposition to the use of such treatment by drug courts is so widespread that in February 2015 the Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP) announced that it would refuse funding to drug court programs that fail to provide it. Nevertheless, court, probation, and treatment staff routinely and inappropriately deny medication assisted treatment to deserving drug court clients for non-medical reasons.<sup>68</sup>

### Moving Beyond Drug Courts: Ending Mass Criminalization

In short, drug courts are more expensive, less effective, and unnecessarily punitive compared to less coercive, health-based approaches to dealing with drug use and addiction.

People who are found in possession of a drug should never be arrested or sent to a criminal court – including a drug court.<sup>69</sup> The Multi-Site Drug Court Evaluation recommended that drug courts should de-prioritize simple possession offenses – which are prevalent in most drug courts today.<sup>70</sup>

Rather than relying primarily or exclusively on drug courts, states seeking to implement more efficient and fiscally responsible drug policies should consider removing drug possession from the criminal justice system entirely.

# Why is Decriminalization the Solution?

Decriminalization mitigates or eliminates each of the above-noted problems associated with criminalization. Specifically, decriminalization:

- Reduces the number of people arrested, incarcerated, or otherwise swept into the justice system, thereby allowing persons, their families and communities to avoid the many harms that flow from drug arrests, incarceration, and the lifelong burden of having a criminal record;
- Alleviates income-based disparities in the criminal justice system;
- Improves the cost-effectiveness of limited public health resources;
- Revises the current law enforcement incentive structure and redirects resources to prevent serious and violent crime;
- Reduces racial discrimination and disparities in drug law enforcement;
- Creates a climate in which people who are using drugs problematically have an incentive to seek treatment;
- Improves treatment outcomes where treatment is called for;
- Removes barriers to the implementation of evidence-based practices to reduce the potential harms of drug use, such as drug checking;
- Improves relationships between law enforcement agencies and the communities they have sworn to protect and serve; and
- Makes communities safer by reducing prohibitionrelated violence.

Removing criminal penalties for drug use and possession will save billions of dollars a year that can be used to provide effective health interventions for those who need them, while focusing criminal justice resources on serious public safety problems.

Despite its many critical benefits, decriminalization does not undo all of the inherent harms of drug prohibition. Decriminalization does not completely eliminate illegal and unregulated markets, racial discrimination and disparities in enforcement, or the problem of "net-widening" (getting people caught up in the criminal justice system through the use of ineffective or inefficient diversion programs). Nevertheless, decriminalization would be a major step forward, saving lives, reducing harm to communities and improving public safety.

## Addressing Four Important Questions About Decriminalization

In this section, we address some of the most common concerns about decriminalization and assess those objections against the best available evidence. 66

Decriminalization of recreational use of marijuana by adults has not led to an increase in youth rates of recreational marijuana. Thus, decriminalizing simple possession of marijuana for both minors and young adults may be a reasonable alternative to outright criminal prosecution, as long as it is coupled with drug education and treatment programs.

- American Academy of Pediatrics, Technical Report: The Impact of Marijuana Policies on Youth: Clinical, Research, and Legal Update, 2015.

### Won't decriminalization increase drug use?

The most common fear about decriminalization is that it might cause drug use to increase. This fear is understandable, and it is difficult to predict with precision what impact such a policy change would have in practice. Yet available empirical evidence from the U.S. and around the world strongly suggests that eliminating criminal penalties for possession of some or all drugs would not significantly increase rates of drug use.<sup>71</sup>

The example of marijuana provides some insight into this question: there is no correlation between decriminalization of marijuana and rate of marijuana or other drug use. In the 1970s, several U.S. states either reduced or eliminated criminal penalties for personal possession of marijuana. Evidence from these states found no significant increase in marijuana or other drug use.<sup>72</sup> The Institute of Medicine has also concluded that "there is little evidence that decriminalization of marijuana use necessarily leads to a substantial increase in marijuana use."<sup>73</sup> Similarly, in the 1980s and 1990s several jurisdictions in Australia decriminalized possession of marijuana for personal use; surveys showed no increases in use of marijuana attributable to the law change.<sup>74</sup>

This appears to be the case for other drugs as well. The National Research Council determined in 2001, and reaffirmed in 2015, that "existing research seems to indicate that there is little apparent relationship between severity of sanctions prescribed for drug use and prevalence or frequency of use, and that perceived legal risk explains very little in the variance of individual drug use."<sup>75</sup>

Similarly, a 2013 study of European Union member-states showed that countries with less punitive policies (including different forms of decriminalization) did not have higher rates of drug use – and in fact tend to have lower rates – than countries with more punitive policies.<sup>76</sup>

The Organization of American States conducted a review of drug policies in the Americas in 2013 and concluded, "The available evidence suggests that reducing penalties for possession of small quantities has little effect on the number of users but retains the benefit of reducing judicial caseloads and incarceration rates."<sup>77</sup>

### Won't Decriminalization Increase Crime Rates?

Crime rates are influenced by a wide range of factors, and any association between a particular policy intervention and crime rates is likely to be complex. The theoretical and empirical literature around such topics – well beyond the scope of this report – is decidedly mixed about the potential deterrent effect of different criminal justice policies.<sup>78</sup>

But, as with drug use rates, crime rates do not appear to correlate to the severity of criminal penalties. Countries that have decriminalized some or all drugs have not experienced significant increases in non-drug crimes, and some have even seen reductions in theft and other offenses. These benefits may derive from the significant police and court resources freed up by decriminalization and redeployed.<sup>79</sup> Conversely, a substantial amount evidence points to the high opportunity cost of aggressively policing possession offenses, suggesting that aggressive policing practices may lead to more crime, not less, because they divert scarce law enforcement resources away from combatting more serious crimes,<sup>80</sup> and because aggressive policing of drug possession harms police-community relations.

## Ceasing to criminalize drug possession improves community-police relations, and increases levels of trust in law enforcement.<sup>81</sup>

It can also improve the justice system by streamlining processes and reducing administrative burdens for police, prosecutors and courts, which translates into more resources for the investigation, prevention and prosecution of more serious crime.<sup>82</sup>

Law enforcement agencies in countries that have decriminalized drug possession have reportedly not been hampered in their investigations of large drug trafficking operations,<sup>83</sup> and decriminalization does not seem to have impacted drug markets, drug seizures or crimes related to drug trafficking.<sup>84</sup>

Despite their initial opposition or concerns, members of law enforcement in these countries have expressed high levels of satisfaction with their drug policy reforms, and many believe decriminalization has had a positive impact on public safety and health.<sup>85</sup>

## Isn't the Criminal Justice System Effective at Getting People Into Treatment?

Many lawmakers and criminal justice actors understandably, but falsely, believe that the coercive power of the criminal justice system is necessary to get people into treatment, and that punishing people who return to drug use after treatment helps people stop using drugs. Yet only one-third of people admitted to substance abuse treatment nationwide between 2002 and 2012 – 600,000 people – did so on a coerced basis; the remainder entered voluntarily.<sup>86</sup> It is certainly true that treatment is better than incarceration for some people who are addicted to drugs. But there are several reasons to believe that coercion is not helpful, and may actually be counter-productive.

First, arguments in favor of coerced treatment ignore the serious harms that are inflicted by any involvement with the criminal justice system, including: the trauma of arrest and potential incarceration, potential job loss and strain on family relations, the stigma of having a criminal record, and the myriad collateral consequences of having a criminal record (including, in some jurisdictions, deprivation of the right to vote).<sup>87</sup>

Second, although some individuals may be more likely to enter treatment if they are forced to, there is no statistical, system-wide evidence that those who are coerced to enter treatment fare any better than those who access treatment voluntarily. Treatment completion and retention rates are scarcely different.<sup>88</sup>

Third, only a minority of people who use a drug – any drug – will actually go on to become dependent or develop a problem.<sup>89</sup> Indeed, the majority of people who use illicit drugs do not need drug treatment, according to federal government surveys.<sup>90</sup> But coerced treatment programs do not distinguish between drug use and dependence or addiction: many people who possess, but are not drug-dependent, get placed into coercive treatment programs. Placing people who occasionally use drugs nonproblematically into unnecessary treatment deprives people suffering from serious drug dependence of access to the limited treatment opportunities that do exist. Treatment is inappropriate for people who do not need it, and those who seek to access it voluntarily should have the ability to do so. Fourth, and related to the third point above, treatment is often unnecessary. Most people recover from drug dependence without treatment. Often called "natural" recovery, this process involves changes in substance use without the aid of formal interventions.<sup>91</sup> Researchers who have examined "natural recovery" have demonstrated that it is the *common* course of *most* cases of substance dependence.<sup>92</sup> The majority of people who use or become dependent on substances naturally reduce their use as they age, and ultimately most cease their use entirely.<sup>93</sup>

Fifth, many health professionals consider any form of coerced treatment to be medically unethical. The American Public Health Association, for example, branded coerced drug treatment "ethically unjustifiable."<sup>94</sup>

In sum, the argument that the criminal justice system is necessary to get people into treatment is not supported by the evidence and ignores some serious problems associated with coerced treatment:

- the argument ignores many of the harms that coerced treatment causes;
- there is no evidence that people who are coerced into treatment have more successful outcomes than people who enter voluntarily;

- treatment is often unnecessary for people to stop using drugs problematically;
- only a minority of people who use drugs will go on to become addicted; and
- it is unethical to coerce health care treatment using threats of criminal punishments.

Doing away with coercive treatment doesn't mean doing away with constructive tools to encourage those who use drugs problematically to address their drug use. Family, doctors, employers, co-workers and community can all be engaged to convince people engaged in problematic drug use to seek and receive treatment. This kind of non-criminal justice pressure to enter treatment is already the norm for many wealthier people who are unlikely to end up in the criminal justice system for drug-related reasons and can afford to access private treatment.<sup>95</sup>

In addition, coerced treatment programs tend to apply a cookie-cutter approach to treatment requirements: total abstinence is frequently required and relapse is treated punitively. This approach is not supported by research, from a health standpoint. Some people can recover by taking small steps (such as reducing or moderating use); for others, total abstinence is appropriate. And for many, occasional relapse is a predictable and frequent aspect of recovery.<sup>96</sup>



## **Coerced treatment is ethically unjustifiable,** especially when voluntary treatment can yield equal or more positive outcomes.

- American Public Health Association, 2013

The criminal justice system is binary – someone caught up in it is either compliant with the rules or not, and failure to comply with the rules results in harsh (and expensive) punishment. From a health perspective, whether a person is totally abstinent from alcohol, marijuana or other drugs matters far less than whether the problems associated with their drug misuse are getting better or not. Metrics like health, employment, housing and family situation are more important than the outcome of a drug test. But when drug possession is criminalized, reduction of drug use and reduction of drug-related harms become irrelevant, because *by law* anything short of abstinence is a crime. Under decriminalization, alternative, tested and productive ways for discussing and addressing problematic drug use and dependence become possible.

Finally, coercive criminal justice-based treatment programs absorb scarce resources from the public health systems, and for many low-income people, the criminal justice system may currently be the only means of accessing some form of treatment. According to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), "About two thirds (67.5 percent) of admissions aged 26 or older that were referred to substance abuse treatment by the criminal justice system had no health insurance, which substantially exceeded the percentages for most other referral sources."<sup>97</sup> Inability to pay for treatment is a leading reason millions of people who need treatment do not access it.<sup>98</sup> It simply does not make sense to punish drug-dependent people when we could be helping them instead.

### The failed drug war has prioritized funding for criminalization – to the detriment of effective prevention, treatment and harm reduction services.

### How Hard Are So Called Hard Drugs?

It is often assumed that drugs like cocaine, heroin, and methamphetamine are automatically addictive or addictive beyond rates seen with alcohol and tobacco. The common belief is that most people who use these drugs will become dependent the very first or second time they use these substances. This is problematic because it tends to drive the assumption that possession of any amount of these drugs should be criminalized and that punishment is the only approach. The data tells a different story. The reality is, most people who use these drugs do so recreationally and never become dependent.

According to the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, only 0.8 percent of the nearly 16 million people aged 18 or older who reported using cocaine in their lifetime had used cocaine in the past month. Rates were even lower for heroin and methamphetamine. Only 0.4 percent of the 14.4 million people who reported having used methamphetamine in their lifetime reported past month use. And just 0.1 percent of the nearly 4.7 million people who reported having used heroin in their lifetime reported past month use.<sup>99</sup>

## Stepping Stones to Decriminalization: Efforts to Reduce Drug Penalties in the U.S.

U.S. attitudes and policy on decriminalization has evolved dramatically over the last few decades. Support for the proposition that marijuana should be made legal grew from just 15 percent in 1970 to 60 percent in 2016.<sup>100</sup> A majority of the U.S. public supports not only decriminalizing but also legalizing and regulating marijuana for adult recreational use,<sup>101</sup> as a number of U.S. states are now doing.

Some U.S jurisdictions have been experimenting with different approaches to decriminalization. As stated above, an ideal decriminalization model would be the elimination of all sanctions for drug possession, but there are some incremental approaches that are helpful as well. Several are explored below.

### "Defelonizing" Drug Possession

Despite significant progress in the case of marijuana, 32 states still consider simple possession of small amounts of drugs like cocaine or heroin a felony, while 18 states, as well as Washington, DC and the federal government, treat possession as a misdemeanor.<sup>102</sup>

California "defelonized" drug possession in 2014 by passing Proposition 47, "The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act," an overwhelmingly popular voter initiative. The new law changed six low-level crimes, including drug possession, from felonies (or "wobblers" - crimes that can be charged as either felonies or misdemeanors) to misdemeanors, retroactively and prospectively. Since its passage, more than 13,000 people have been released and resentenced - saving the state an estimate \$156 million in incarceration costs. This money is being reinvested in drug treatment and mental health services, programs for at-risk students in K-12 schools, and victim services.<sup>103</sup> The law is significantly easing notorious (and unconstitutional) jail overcrowding in California counties.<sup>104</sup> There is some evidence that crime has increased since the passage of Prop 47, but no evidence that the law enactment is to blame.<sup>105</sup>

Public sentiment in favor of reducing criminal penalties for drug possession is growing in other parts of the country too. A 2014 national Pew poll found that roughly two-thirds of respondents across the country believe that people should no longer be prosecuted for possession of cocaine or heroin.<sup>106</sup> In the nation's capital, a 2013 poll found that more than half (54 percent) of respondents supported decriminalizing possession of small amounts of drugs other than marijuana.<sup>107</sup>

A 2016 poll of presidential primary voters in New Hampshire found that a substantial majority (66 percent) support decriminalizing drug possession outright.<sup>108</sup> A 2016 poll of voters in Maine found that 63 percent "think we should treat drug use as a public health issue and stop arresting and locking up people for possession of a small amount of any drug for personal use."<sup>109</sup> Similarly, a 2016 poll found that 59 percent of South Carolina primary voters support decriminalizing drug possession, asserting that someone caught with a small amount of any illegal drug for personal use should be offered treatment but not be arrested, let alone face jail time.<sup>110</sup> Finally, legislation was introduced in Maryland in 2016 and again in 2017 to decriminalize low-level drug possession, part of a groundbreaking package of health-centered responses to drug use.

# Many U.S. jurisdictions have started to move in the direction of decriminalization.

### **Decriminalizing Marijuana Possession**

Twenty-one states and Washington D.C. have either replaced criminal sanctions with the imposition of civil, fine-only penalties or reduced marijuana possession from a felony to a fine-only misdemeanor.<sup>111</sup> Eight of these states have taken the additional step of legally regulating the production, distribution and sale of marijuana.

Where implemented effectively, arrests have declined substantially, especially among youth.<sup>112</sup> Nevertheless, marijuana arrests still continue at alarming rates nationally, though they have slightly declined in recent years. More than 485,000 people were arrested for marijuana possession in 2015.<sup>113</sup>This demonstrates that state-by-state decriminalization of marijuana is not enough.

#### www.drugpolicy.org

"

Unlike drug court, LEAD does not require the presence of judges, court staff, prosecutors, or public defenders. The resources saved from keeping participants out of the criminal justice system are directed towards those individuals.

- Lisa Daugaard, Defender Association, Seattle.

Decriminalization schemes differ vastly in the protections they offer against arrest, prosecution and incarceration. Some states have set the threshold for simple marijuana possession quite low (in relation to local marijuana consumption patterns); possession of more than these amounts may still trigger harsh criminal penalties. Other states have only decriminalized a first offense, while subsequent offenses are punished severely.<sup>114</sup> Many people residing in these states perceive no difference in their risk of arrest compared to prior to the implementation of these inadequate decriminalization schemes.<sup>115</sup>

### Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (LEAD)

Absent robust reform at the state or federal level, cities are increasingly exercising leadership and moving to reduce the role of criminalization in drug policy with very promising results. Seattle, Washington, has been at the forefront of such efforts, developing and implementing a program in 2011 known as "Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion," or LEAD, that aims to bypass the criminal justice system at the earliest possible moment – before arrest – without any changes to state or federal law.

LEAD is an example of *de facto* decriminalization – rather than amending drug possession laws, local jurisdictions are changing their *practices*. Instead of arresting and booking people for certain drug law violations, including drug possession and low-level sales, police in select Seattle neighborhoods immediately direct them to drug treatment or other supportive services.<sup>116</sup> LEAD is based on a commitment to "a harm reduction framework for all service provision."<sup>117</sup> The program does not require abstinence, and clients cannot be sanctioned for drug use or relapse.<sup>118</sup> LEAD emphasizes "individual and community wellness, rather than an exclusive focus on sobriety."<sup>119</sup> Former acting Seattle Police Chief James Pugel explains that LEAD's "overall philosophy is harm reduction...we know there may be relapse and falls."<sup>120</sup>

LEAD incorporates measures like health, employment, social relationships and overall well-being – instead of abstinence – into the program's goals and evaluation, so that participants are never punished for failing a drug test.<sup>121</sup>

Responses to LEAD have been favorable, and initial indications are quite promising. A multi-year evaluation by the University of Washington suggests that LEAD is reducing the number of people arrested, prosecuted, incarcerated and otherwise caught up in the criminal justice system. It is also achieving significant reductions in recidivism. The evaluation team found that LEAD participants were nearly 60 percent less likely to reoffend than a control group of non-LEAD participants.<sup>122</sup> This result is particularly encouraging in light of the high re-arrest rate for this population under the traditional criminal justice model.

Stepping Stones to Decriminalization: Efforts to Reduce Drug Penalties in the U.S. continued

The evaluation team also conducted an analysis of LEAD's effect on criminal justice costs, concluding that "[a]cross nearly all outcomes, we observed statistically significant reductions for the LEAD group compared to the control group on average yearly criminal justice and legal system utilization and associated costs."<sup>123</sup> LEAD participants showed cost reductions, while non-LEAD controls showed cost increases. These significant cost decreases result from significant reductions in time spent in jail, jail bookings per year, and probability of incarceration or felony charges among LEAD participants compared to "system-as-usual" controls.<sup>124</sup>

LEAD has helped improve community-police relations<sup>125</sup> and precipitated a fundamental policy reorientation in Seattle-King County: from an "enforcement-first" approach to a health-centered model, reinforced by specialized harm reduction training required of every police officer.<sup>126</sup> LEAD appears to be changing law enforcement's mindset about how to promote public safety.<sup>127</sup>

In 2014, Santa Fe, New Mexico, became the second city in the U.S. to implement a LEAD program. Its experience shows how different communities can adapt the LEAD model to their particular local contexts. Santa Fe's LEAD was developed after nine months of study and community engagement and is tailored to the community's needs: unlike Seattle, Santa Fe's main concerns were not drug markets, but rather opioid misuse, dependence and overdose. Eligibility for Santa Fe LEAD is limited to those caught possessing or selling three grams or less of opioids. A cost-benefit analysis estimates that New Mexico spends \$1.5 million per year to criminalize people in the city of Santa Fe for these offenses; LEAD could cut those costs in half.<sup>128</sup>

Portland, OR, Baltimore, MD, Albany, NY, Fayeteville, NC, and Huntington, WV, now also have LEAD programs operating, and dozens more cities are in the process of developing and launching LEAD. And in July 2015, in a remarkable indication of both the growing interest in LEAD as well as the evolution of the Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP), the White House held a national convening to discuss and promote LEAD, with the participation of representatives from over 30 cities, counties and states.<sup>129</sup>

## LEAD is a working example of how cities can craft policies that avoid or minimize the use of criminal penalties – and do so in a manner that benefits public safety and health.

### 911 Good Samaritan Laws

Drug overdose is now the leading cause of injury-related death in the U.S.<sup>130</sup> Drug criminalization has not just failed to reduce problematic drug use, but has exacerbated it.

Tragically, more people are dying from drug overdose with each passing year. In an effort to save lives, 40 states and the District of Columbia have passed "911 Good Samaritan" laws, which allow for limited decriminalization of drug use and possession at the scene of an overdose for those who are witnesses and call for emergency medical assistance.<sup>131</sup> Good Samaritan laws provide a valuable example of the risks of drug possession remaining a criminal offense, and the positive impact that decriminalization can have on public health and safety.

Not all overdoses result in death, and Good Samaritan laws do not prevent overdose, but they can prevent overdoserelated deaths. Most overdose fatalities occur one to three hours after the victim has ingested or injected drugs.<sup>132</sup> The chance of surviving an overdose, like that of surviving a heart attack, depends greatly on how fast one receives medical assistance. Witnesses to heart attacks rarely think twice about calling 911, but witnesses to an overdose often hesitate to call for help. The most common reason people cite for not calling 911 is fear: fear that the police will respond along with medical personnel and that the caller and/or others will be arrested and prosecuted if the police see drugs at the scene or suspect that drugs were involved in the incident.<sup>133</sup>



Good Samaritan immunity laws provide protection from arrest and prosecution for overdose witnesses who call 911. Exempting overdose witnesses from criminal prosecution encourages people to seek medical help right away in the event of an overdose. Such laws may also be accompanied by training for law enforcement, EMS and other emergency and public safety personnel.

Risk of criminal prosecution or civil litigation can deter medical professionals, people who use drugs, and bystanders from aiding overdose victims. Well-crafted legislation can provide simple protections to alleviate these fears, improve emergency overdose responses, and save lives.

These policies only protect the caller and victim from arrest and prosecution for simple drug possession, possession of equipment used to ingest or inject drugs, and/or being under the influence. They do not protect people from arrest for drug sales or other offenses. 911 Good Samaritan policies prioritize saving lives over arrests for possession. Initial results from an evaluation of Washington State's Good Samaritan law, adopted in 2010, found that 88 percent of people who use opioids said they would be more likely, and less afraid, to call 911 in the event of a future overdose after learning about the law.<sup>135</sup> Good Samaritan laws are not only good policy; they also help illuminate the merits of drug decriminalization more generally.

There is a growing consensus that treating drug use as a health issue is the right approach. Taking drug use out of the criminal sphere will improve the health and safety of our communities.

## Other Countries' Experiences with Decriminalization

### Portugal

Portugal provides the best and most well-documented example of decriminalization in practice. The Portuguese approach has proven successful in reducing drug-related harms as well as minimizing the number of people arrested or incarcerated for drug law violations.

The Portuguese policy emerged in reaction to an escalation of problematic drug use – in particular unsafe injection drug use and its impact on public safety and health. While overall prevalence rates of drug use and drug-related illness in Portugal have always been on the lower end of the European average, in 1999 Portugal had the highest rate of drugrelated AIDS in the European Union and the second highest prevalence of HIV among people who inject drugs,<sup>136</sup> and drug-related deaths were increasing dramatically.<sup>137</sup>

In 2001, Portuguese legislators enacted a comprehensive form of decriminalization – eliminating criminal penalties for low-level possession and consumption *of all drugs* and reclassifying these activities as administrative violations.

Portugal's decriminalization was one aspect of a much larger drug policy shift – a deliberate decision to address low-level drug possession through their public health system instead of their criminal justice system. The policy was part of a comprehensive health-oriented approach to addressing problematic drug use, especially unsafe injecting, that also included a major expansion of treatment and harm reduction services, including access to sterile syringes, methadone maintenance and other health interventions, and the elimination of most barriers to such vital services.<sup>138</sup>

After an extensive consultation with experts and stakeholders, Portuguese policymakers created the infrastructure and made the necessary financial investment to put the policy into practice.<sup>139</sup> The key rationales for the reform were to deploy the resource savings from the criminal justice system for more in-depth health-oriented approaches, to allow law enforcement to focus on more serious and violent crime, as well as to dissuade drug use and to encourage those dependent on drugs to enter treatment voluntarily.<sup>140</sup> A person found in possession of small amounts of any drug in Portugal is no longer arrested. Rather, the person is summoned to appear before a local "dissuasion commission", comprised of one official from the legal arena and two from the health or social service arenas, who determine whether and to what extent the person is addicted to drugs. The commissions - which operate independently from the criminal justice system – can refer that person to a voluntary treatment program or impose a fine or other administrative sanctions. The Portuguese made a commitment to not incarcerate someone for failing to enter treatment, failing a drug test or continuing to use drugs. The majority of people who appear before the commissions are deemed non-problematic users and receive no sanction or intervention, but rather a provisional suspension of the proceedings; if they are not found in possession again within six months, the matter is completely dropped. Drug trafficking and non-drug offenses, however, remain illegal and are still processed through the criminal justice system.141

Portugal decriminalized *all* drugs in 2001. More than a decade later, drug use has remained about the same – but arrests, incarceration, disease, overdose and other harms are all down. Independent research of the Portuguese policy has shown promising outcomes:<sup>142</sup>

### No major increases in drug use

Rates of illicit drug use have mostly remained flat.<sup>143</sup> In some cases, past month drug use has actually decreased since decriminalization. Overall, Portugal's drug use rates remain below the European average<sup>144</sup> – and far lower than rates of drug use in the United States.<sup>145</sup>

In fact, adolescent drug use, as well as problematic drug use – or use by people deemed to be dependent or who inject – has decreased since 2003.<sup>146</sup>

In addition, a 2015 analysis found that drug prices have not decreased in Portugal following decriminalization, a result that "contrasts with the argument that softer drug law enforcement necessarily leads to lower prices and, consequently, to higher drug usage rates and dependence.<sup>3147</sup>

Adolescent drug use as well as problematic drug use has decreased in Portugal in the years after removing criminal penalties for personal use and possession.



### Illegal Drug Use in Portugal, Before and After Decriminalization

Any Illegal Drug Use in Portugal in Past Year and Past Month Among Youth (ages 15-24) and General Population (ages 15-64)

Source: Balsa et al., IDP, 2013.148

Fewer people arrested and incarcerated for drugs The number of people arrested and sent to criminal courts for drug offenses annually declined by more than 60 percent following decriminalization.<sup>149</sup> The number of people referred for administrative offenses under the new law has remained constant (between 6,000 and 8,000 per year) for most of the period since decriminalization, "indicating no overall increase in the amount of formal contact that drug offenders are having with Portuguese police."150 The vast majority more than 80 percent - of dissuasion commission cases are deemed non-problematic and dismissed without sanction.<sup>151</sup> Given the fact that the majority of drug users in the U.S. are not using drugs problematically, it is likely that we would see a similar outcome here if drug use and possession were decriminalized.

The percentage of people behind bars in Portugal for drug law violations also decreased dramatically, from 44 percent in 1999 to 24 percent in 2013.<sup>152</sup> This decrease reflected a significant drop in people incarcerated for all drug offenses, not just possession.<sup>153</sup>

### More people receiving drug treatment

Between 1998 and 2011, the number of people in drug treatment increased by more than 60 percent (from approximately 23,600 to roughly 38,000).<sup>154</sup> Treatment is voluntary – making Portugal's high rates of uptake even more noteworthy. Over 70 percent of those who seek treatment receive opioid-substitution therapy, the most effective treatment for opioid dependence.<sup>155</sup> By removing the threat of criminal penalties, Portugal also took away the fear and stigma associated with seeking treatment. Now those who need treatment come to it voluntarily – and are more likely to succeed as a result.

Reduced incidence of HIV/AIDS and drug overdose The number of new HIV diagnoses dropped dramatically – from 1,575 cases in 2000 to 78 cases in 2013 – and the number of new AIDS cases decreased from 626 in 2000 to 74 cases in 2013 (in a country of just over 10 million people).<sup>156</sup> Drug overdose fatalities also dropped from about 80 in 2001 to just 16 in 2012.<sup>157</sup>

The World Health Organization found that in Portugal, "Since decriminalization, rates of drug-related morbidity and mortality and of injecting have decreased dramatically. Though injecting drug use (IDU) was an important driver of the HIV epidemic in Portugal, cases associated with IDU have declined dramatically over the past decade."<sup>158</sup>

### Reduced social costs of problematic drug use

A 2015 study found that the per capita social cost of drug misuse in Portugal decreased by an average of 18 percent over the period 2000-2010.<sup>159</sup> The study notes that though "the reduction of legal system costs (possibly associated with the decriminalization of drug consumption) is clearly one of the main explanatory factors, it is not the only one .... the rather significant reduction of health-related costs has also played an important role."<sup>160</sup>

## Contrary to predictions, the Portuguese decriminalization did not lead to major increases in drug use. Indeed, evidence indicates reductions in problematic use, drug-related harms and criminal justice overcrowding.<sup>161</sup>

- Professors Caitlin Hughes and Alex Stevens, British Journal of Criminology, 2010.

## The biggest effect [of decriminalization] has been to allow the stigma of drug addiction to fall, to let people speak clearly and to pursue professional help without fear.

- Dr. João Goulão, Portugal's Drug Czar, 2011.162

### Independent experts validate Portugal's approach

Nearly a decade and a half later, none of the fears that initial critics expressed have come to pass in Portugal. Instead, law enforcement and the criminal justice system function more efficiently, and the health and wellbeing of people who use drugs has significantly improved. Community relations with the police have also improved.<sup>163</sup>

The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), the international body charged with enforcing the global drug control regime, initially warned Portugal against decriminalizing. But in 2009 it agreed in its annual World Drug Report that "Portugal's policy has reportedly not led to an increase in drug tourism. It also appears that a number of drug-related problems have decreased."<sup>164</sup> Nuno Capaz, one of three public officials charged with evaluating people who are ordered to appear before the Lisbon Dissuasion Commission in Portugal, stated:

"We came to the conclusion that the criminal system was not best suited to deal with this situation... The best option should be referring them to treatment... We do not force or coerce anyone. If they are willing to go by themselves, it's because they actually want to, so the success rate is really high... We can surely say that decriminalization does not increase drug usage, and that decriminalization does not mean legalizing... It's possible to deal with drug users outside the criminal system."<sup>165</sup>

66

## A Snapshot of Other Experiences with Drug Decriminalization

In addition to Portugal, a number of countries around the world have decriminalized possession of all drugs. Their experiences are diverse and reflect a number of important considerations as states and countries pursue decriminalization policies.

### **Czech Republic**

The Czech Republic has long integrated many elements of harm reduction and treatment into its drug policies, including low-threshold opioid substitution treatment and syringe access programs that are some of the most expansive in Europe. After its post-Soviet transition, personal drug possession was not criminalized, but in the late 1990s, the government imposed criminal penalties on personal possession of a "quantity greater than small" (though this quantity was never defined). The Czech government subsequently conducted an in-depth evaluation of this policy change, determined that criminal penalties had no effect on use or drug-related harm, and concluded that such penalties were costly and unjustifiable.<sup>166</sup>

Based on this finding, in 2010 the country enacted a law decriminalizing personal possession of drugs and defining personal use amounts pragmatically: those found in possession of certain quantities of illicit drugs – up to 15 grams of marijuana, one gram of cocaine, 1.5 grams of heroin, four ecstasy pi№s, or 40 pieces of psilocybin mushrooms – face administrative sanctions, which may include a fine. According to available data, the new Czech model appears to result in net societal benefits,<sup>167</sup> without increasing rates of drug use.<sup>168</sup> In fact, drug use among Czech youth and young adults has decreased following decriminalization.<sup>169</sup>

### Netherlands

The Netherlands has a long-standing *de facto* decriminalization policy, in which government officials have instructed prosecutors not to prosecute possession of roughly a single dose of any drug for personal use. Neither civil nor criminal penalties apply to possession of amounts equal to or lesser than this threshold. Dutch drug policy has been widely studied, and the outcomes are not in question: the Netherlands has lower rates of addiction and problematic drug use than most of Western Europe and the U.S. Moreover, the Dutch also have much lower heroin overdose rates and prevalence of injection drug use compared to the U.S.<sup>170</sup>

### Mexico

Mexico's limited decriminalization policy - adopted in 2009 and known as the narcomenudeo ("small-trafficking") law – does not appear to have had much of an impact, owing in part to problems with the legal framework. In particular, the threshold limits distinguishing between personal "possession" versus "trafficking" were set very low, and penalties for "trafficking" were increased. Consequently, Mexico's law may have resulted in an increased number of people arrested and sanctioned for drug law violations, according to data.<sup>171</sup> In addition, and unlike Portugal and other European countries, Mexico has not invested in treatment and harm reduction interventions, and lacks a sufficient treatment infrastructure for its citizens.<sup>172</sup> As a result, Mexico's decriminalization has largely been in name only. Several studies have shown that people who use drugs - especially poor youth - continue to be detained, arrested and prosecuted for drug possession and consumption, even though these activities have been nominally decriminalized.<sup>173</sup> Mexico's experience with decriminalization should be viewed as a cautionary tale when U.S. jurisdictions engage in efforts to decriminalize drug possession, they can look to Mexico's experience as an example of what pitfalls to avoid.

## Appendix I: Growing National and International Support for Decriminalizing Drug Use and Possession

In recent years, debate and political will for ending the criminalization of drug possession has gained unprecedented global momentum. A wide array of national and international organizations have joined the call for alternatives to criminalization:

## The Johns Hopkins-Lancet Commission on Drug Policy and Health (2016)

The Johns Hopkins–Lancet Commission, co-chaired by Professor Adeeba Kamarulzaman of the University of Malaya and Professor Michel Kazatchkine, the UN Special Envoy for HIV/AIDS in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, is composed of 22 experts from a wide range of disciplines and professions in low-income, middle-income, and high-income countries. It reviewed the global evidence base on the impacts of drug policy on health outcomes and conducted novel analyses, including mathematical modelling, to further enhance understanding of the complex and manifold interactions of drug policy with health, human rights, and wellbeing. "To move towards the balanced policy that UN member states have called for, we offer the following recommendations: Decriminalise minor, non-violent drug offences—use, possession, and petty sale-and strengthen health and social-sector alternatives to criminal sanctions."174

### World Health Organization (2014)

The World Health Organization (WHO) is the international authority charged with directing and coordinating health within the United Nations system. It plays a leadership role in global health issues, including evidence-based public health policies, and routinely provides guidelines and technical support to countries around the world on health matters.

In recent guidelines issued in 2014, WHO urged:

"Countries should work toward developing policies and laws that decriminalize injection and other use of drugs and, thereby, reduce incarceration. Countries should work toward developing policies and laws that decriminalize the use of clean needles and syringes.... Countries should ban compulsory treatment for people who use and/or inject drugs."<sup>775</sup>

### American Public Health Association (2013)

Established in 1872, American Public Health Association (APHA) is the world's oldest and most diverse public health association – and the foremost body of public health professionals in the U.S. In a 2013 policy statement, APHA endorsed the elimination of criminal penalties on use and possession as a key element in a truly public health approach to drugs, stating:

"APHA believes that national and state governments and health agencies must reorient drug policies to embrace healthcentered, evidence-based approaches ... Therefore, APHA... [u]rges Congress and state governments to eliminate federal and state criminal penalties and collateral sanctions for personal drug use and possession offenses and to avoid unduly harsh administrative penalties, such as civil asset forfeiture, ... such penalties should not be imposed solely for personal drug possession and use."<sup>176</sup>

### Organization of American States (2013)

The Organization of American States (OAS) is the world's oldest regional organization. Today it is the most important, multilateral body in the hemisphere, composed of 35 independent member-states of the Americas. In May of 2013, the OAS produced a far-reaching report, commissioned by heads of state of the region, which stated:

"The decriminalization of drug use needs to be considered as a core element in any public health strategy."<sup>177</sup>

### Human Rights Watch (2013)

Human Rights Watch is an international nonprofit, nongovernmental human rights organization with a staff of 400 human rights professionals working in some 90 countries around the world. Founded in 1978, Human Rights Watch works with local human rights defenders to press governments, as well as regional and international bodies, for changes in policy and practice that promote human rights and justice around the world. In spring 2013, Human Rights Watch issued a policy statement, in which it condemned criminalization policies for violating human rights and urged governments to decriminalize possession of all drugs, writing:

"National drug control policies that impose criminal penalties for personal drug use undermine basic human rights... Subjecting people to criminal sanctions for the personal use of drugs, or for possession of drugs for personal use, infringes on their autonomy and right to privacy... The criminalization of drug use has undermined the right to health. Fear of criminal penalties deters people who use drugs from using health services and treatment, and increases their risk of violence, discrimination, and serious illness. Criminal prohibitions have also impeded the use of drugs for legitimate medical research, and have prevented patients from accessing drugs for palliative care and pain treatment....[G]overnments should rely instead on non-penal regulatory and public health policies."<sup>778</sup>

### Global Commission on Drug Policy (2011)

In 2011, Kofi Annan, Richard Branson, George Shultz and Paul Volcker joined former presidents Fernando Henrique Cardoso (Brazil), César Gaviria (Colombia) and Ernesto Zedillo (Mexico) and other distinguished international leaders and experts formed the Global Commission on Drug Policy. The Commission released a report saying the time had come to "break the taboo" on exploring alternatives to the failed war on drugs – including the decriminalization of possession of all drugs. The Commission called on national governments to:

"End the criminalization, marginalization and stigmatization of people who use drugs but who do no harm to others... and replace the criminalization and punishment of people who use drugs with the offer of health and treatment services to those who need them."<sup>179</sup>

In 2014, the Commission reiterated its call for governments to:

"Stop criminalizing people for drug use and possession – and stop imposing "compulsory treatment" on people whose only offense is drug use or possession."<sup>180</sup>

### International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (2012)

The International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC) is the largest humanitarian network in the world, with 13 million volunteers assisting 150 million people across the globe before, during and after disasters and health emergencies to meet the needs and improve the lives of vulnerable people. In a 2012 statement before the United Nations Commission on Narcotics Drugs, IFRC stated:

"Treating drug addicts as criminals, is destined to fuel the rise of HIV and other infections not only among those unfortunate enough to have a serious drug addiction, but also for children born into addicted families and ordinary members of the public who are not normally exposed to HIV risks. Injecting drug use is a health issue. It is an issue of human rights. It cannot be condoned, but neither should it be criminalized.... Criminalization, discrimination and stigmatization are not [appropriate] responses. Laws and prosecutions do not stop people from taking drugs. Neither does the cold turkey methods of detoxification that can be potentially life-threatening. On the contrary, governments should recognize once and for all that a humanitarian drug policy works!<sup>VIBI</sup>

### NAACP (2012)

The NAACP is the oldest and largest civil rights organization in the United States. Established in 1909, its mission is to ensure the political, educational, social, and economic equality of rights of all people and to eliminate race-based discrimination. The NAACP advocates for smarter, evidence-based criminal justice policies to keep our communities safe, including treatment for addiction and mental health problems, judicial discretion in sentencing, and an end to racial disparities at all levels of the system.<sup>182</sup>

The NAACP Board of Directors adopted a resolution in 2012 calling for the establishment of a Portuguese-style decriminalization policy, at least as a pilot program and later (if results are favorable) to be scaled up across the country. Its resolution stated:

"The United States government [should] pilot the Portugal Decriminalization program in three U.S. cities and apply the lessons learned... throughout the United States."<sup>183</sup>

### National Latino Congreso (2010)

The National Latino Congreso is an annual meeting of more than one-hundred Latino advocacy and communitybased organizations, whose purpose is to create an open and inclusive space to explore the policy and political agenda of Latino communities in the USA, including the international/Latin American perspective. In 2010 the National Latino Congreso was convened by Hispanic Federation, League of United Latin American Citizens, Mexican American Legal Defense and Educational Fund, Mexican American Political Association, National Alliance of Latin American and Caribbean Communities, National Day Laborer Organizing Network, National Hispanic Environmental Council, Southwest Voter Registration Education Project and the William C. Velasquez Institute. It adopted a resolution that urged sweeping drug policy reforms, including the decriminalization of all drugs along the Portugal model. The resolution reads:

"[T]he delegates of the 2010 National Latino Congreso...urge state and federal governments to follow the successful example of countries like Portugal that have decriminalized personal adult possession and use of all drugs, which has improved the health of drug users, reduced incarceration and death, and saved taxpayer money with no negative consequences to society."<sup>184</sup>

### LatinoJustice PRLDEF (2017)

use. It is time to do things differently."

LatinoJustice PRLDEF champions an equitable society. Using the power of the law together with advocacy and education, LatinoJustice PRLDEF protects opportunities for all Latinos to succeed in school and work, fulfill their dreams, and sustain their families and communities.

"The criminalization of drug use expands mass criminalization, with devastating effects on people of color, citizens, returning citizens, and noncitizens alike. It is time we stop using law enforcement as society's primary response to drug

### United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), Scientific Consultation Working Group on Drug Policy, Health and Human Rights (2014)

In 2014, a key working group of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) announced the release of groundbreaking recommendations discouraging criminal sanctions for drug use. The Scientific Consultation Working Group on Drug Policy, Health and Human Rights of the UNODC – which includes Nora Volkow, head of the U.S. National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) – released recommendations at the High-Level Segment of the 57th UN Commission on Narcotic Drugs. One of its recommendations was that:

"Criminal sanctions are not beneficial in addressing substance use disorders, and [we] discourage their use."<sup>185</sup>

### United Nations Development Programme's Global Commission on HIV and the Law (2012)

The Global Commission on HIV and the Law is an independent entity convened by the United Nations Development Programme and the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). After a comprehensive, two-year process of research and analysis investigating the relationship between HIV response and national legal context the Commission released a report of its findings, in which it stated:

"Countries must reform their approach towards drug use. Rather than punishing people who use drugs who do no harm to others, they must offer them access to effective HIV and health services, including harm reduction and voluntary, evidence-based treatment for drug dependence. Countries must... [d]ecriminalize the possession of drugs for personal use, in recognition that the net impact of such sanctions is often harmful to society."<sup>186</sup>

## International Federation of Catholic Universities (2013)

The International Federation of Catholic Universities is a network of more than 219 Catholic universities and higher education institutions around the world, working to coordinate Catholic higher education issued and practices, with a focus towards education for humane action. In 2013 it issued a report, which stated:

"As a minimum, the decriminalization of the use and possession for personal consumption of some substances that are currently controlled should be considered."<sup>187</sup> continued

### National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers (2000)

The National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers (NACDL) is the leading organization representing criminal defense lawyers and their mission to ensure due process and justice for people accused of crimes or misconduct. NACDL was established in 1958, and has roughly 10,000 members in 28 countries. It was an early endorser of decriminalization, adopting a resolution in 2000 stating:

"[T]he National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers, the pre-eminent organization of criminal defense lawyers whose membership numbers more than 10,000, calls upon federal and state governments to end the War on Drugs by declaring all drug use to be a health rather than a criminal problem and immediately repeal all laws criminalizing the possession, use and delivery of controlled substances."<sup>188</sup>

"Offenses that do not involve a significant risk to public safety should be decriminalized."<sup>189</sup>

### American Civil Liberties Union (2014)

The American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) is the largest organization in the United States working in courts, legislatures and communities to protect individual rights and liberties. In 2014, it signed a public letter, along with more than 50 human rights and drug policy organizations throughout the hemisphere, which read:

"The undersigned organizations urge the... [d]ecriminalization of consumption, drug possession and cultivation for personal use. Criminalization of drug users intensifies their exclusion and stigmatization. Minority groups and impoverished people are especially affected by this, since they are usually the main target of law enforcement interventions. Governments should consider the possibility of adopting decriminalization as an alternative response to criminalization of drug users, by offering health policies for problematic consumers within the framework of the public health system, so that they are not stigmatized.... Prison overcrowding is one of the main causes of human rights violations in the region, strongly impacting the families of detainees and their living conditions."<sup>190</sup>

### West African Commission on Drugs (2014)

Initiated by former United Nations Secretary General Kofi Annan, the West African Commission on Drugs is chaired by former Nigerian President Olusegun Obasango and includes other former heads of state as well as a distinguished group of West Africans from the worlds of politics, civil society, health, security and the judiciary. In a 2014 report, the Commission writes:

"We believe that the consumption and possession for personal use of drugs should not be criminalized. Experience shows that criminalization of drug use worsens health and social problems, puts huge pressures on the criminal justice system and incites corruption. Decriminalizing drug use is one of the most effective ways to reduce problematic drug use as it is likely to facilitate access to treatment for those who need it. It can also help free up resources for law enforcement to focus on more selective deterrence and targeting of high-value traffickers, especially those whose behavior is more damaging to society in the long run."<sup>9191</sup>

### Vienna Declaration (2010)

The Vienna Declaration is a statement prepared by leading international public health experts and organizations, including the International AIDS Society, International Centre for Science in Drug Policy and the BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS – and endorsed by more than 20,000 organizations, academics and concerned individuals – which calls for solid scientific evidence to be incorporation into drug policies. It reads:

"The criminalization of illicit drug users is fueling the HIV epidemic and has resulted in overwhelmingly negative health and social consequences. A full policy reorientation is needed....[countries must] decriminalize drug users, scale up evidence-based drug dependence treatment options and abolish ineffective compulsory drug treatment centers that violate the Universal Declaration of Human Rights."<sup>192</sup>

## Endnotes

- European Monitoring Center for Drugs and Drug Addiction. "Video: What is decriminalization of drugs?" http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/video/2015/what-isdecriminalisation-of-drugs.
- <sup>2</sup> Walsh, C. "On the Threshold: How Relevant Should Quantity Be in Determining Intent to Supply?" *International Journal on Drug Policy*, 19. No. 6 (2008). Hughes, Caitlin et al. "Legal Thresholds for Drug Trafficking: Evaluating the Risk of Unjustified Charge of Users as Traffickers in Six Australian States." http://www. issdp.org/conference-papers/2013/2013\_papers/Hughes%20C%20-%20Legal%20 thresholds%20for%20drug%20trafficking.pdf. Harris, Genevieve. "Convicion by Numbers: Threshold Quantities for Drug Policy." *Series on Legislative Reform of Drug Policies*. No 14. 2011. Harris, G. "Expert Seminar on Threshold Quantities. 2011. https://www.tni.org/files/download/thresholds-expert-seminar.pdf. Hughes, B. "Topic Overview: Threshold Quantities for Drug Offences." *Lisbon: European Monitoring Center for Drugs and Drug Addiction*. 2010. http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/ index99321EN.html.
- <sup>3</sup> Hughes, B. "Topic Overview: Threshold Quantities for Drug Offences." *Lisbon: European Monitoring Center for Drugs and Drug Addiction*. 2010. http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index99321EN.html.
- <sup>4</sup> New York Civil Liberties Union "Analysis Finds Racial Disparities, Ineffectiveness in NYPD Stop-and-Frisk Program; Links Tactic to Soaring Marijuana Arrest Rate" 2013 https://www.nyclu.org/en/press-releases/analysis-finds-racial-disparitiesineffectiveness-nypd-stop-and-frisk-program-links.
- <sup>5</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. "Crime in the United States." 2015. https://ucr.fbi. gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.-2015/persons-arrested/persons-arrested. The number of drug arrests first exceeded 1.5 million in 1996 and it has rarely fallen far below that point since.
- <sup>6</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. "Crime in the United States." 2015. https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.-2015/persons-arrested/persons-arrested.
- <sup>7</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation: <sup>4</sup>Crime in the United States.<sup>3</sup> 2015. https://ucr.fbi. gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.-2015/persons-arrested/persons-arrested.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. "Crime in the United States." 2015. https://ucr.fbi. gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.-2015/persons-arrested/persons-arrested.
- <sup>9</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. "Crime in the United States." 2015. https://ucr.fbi. gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.-2015/persons-arrested/persons-arrested.
- <sup>10</sup> Wagner, Peter and Rabuy, Bernadette. "Mass Incarceration: The Whole Pie 2017," Prison Policy Initiative, March 14, 2017. http://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/ pie2017.html. Also see Ortiz, Natalie. "Pretrial Population and Costs Put County Jails at a Crossroads." National Association of Counties. June 29, 2015. http://www. naco.org/articles/pretrial-population-and-costs-put-county-jails-crossroads-0.
- <sup>11</sup> Criminal Justice Policy Program, Harvard Law School. "Moving Beyond Money: A Primer on Bail Reform." October 2016. http://cjpp.law.harvard.edu/assets/FINAL-Primer-on-Bail-Reform.pdf.
- <sup>12</sup> Rabuy, Bernadette and Kopf, Daniel. "Detaining the Poor: How money bail perpetuates an endless cycle of poverty and jail time." Prison Policy Initiative. May 10, 2016. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/incomejails.html.
- <sup>13</sup> Lowenkamp, Christopher T et al. "The Hidden Costs of Pretrial Detention." Laura and John Arnold Foundation. November 2013. http://www.arnoldfoundation.org/ wp-content/uploads/2014/02/LJAF\_Report\_hidden-costs\_FNL.pdf.
- <sup>14</sup> Carson, E Ann. "Prisoners in 2015." U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. December 2016. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p15.pdf.
- <sup>15</sup> Kaeble, Danielle and Bonczar, Thomas P. "Probation and Parole in the United States, 2015." U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2016. https://www. bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ppus15.pdf.
- <sup>16</sup> Gray, M Kevin et al. "Examining Probation Violations: Who, What, and When." *Crime & Delinquency*, 47. No. 4. 2001.
- <sup>17</sup> Herberman, Erinn J and Bonczar, Thomas P. "Probation and Parole in the United States", 2015. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2017. https:// www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ppus15.pdf.
- <sup>18</sup> Olson, David E. et al. "Drivers of the Sentenced Population: Probation Analysis." 2013. http://ecommons.luc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1008&context=
- criminaljustice\_facpubs. Caudy, Michael S. et al. "Short-Term Trajectories of Substance Use in a Sample of Drug-Involved Probationers." *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 46. No. 2 (2014). Degiorgio, Lisa and DiDonato, Matthew. "Predicting Probationer Rates of Reincarceration Using Dynamic Factors from the

Substance abuse Questionnaire - Adult Probation." American Journal of Criminal Justice, 39. No. 1 (2014). Gonzalez, Jennifer M. Reingle et al. "The Relationship Between Drug Use, Drug-Related Arrests, and Chronic Pain Among Adults on Probation." Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment. 53 (2014) 33-38. Morgan, Kathryn D. "Race Issues in Probation and Parole," in Encyclopedia of Criminology and Criminal Justice. Springer: 2014. Phelps, Michelle S. "The Paradox of Probation: Community Supervision in the Age of Mass Incarceration." Law & Policy, 35. No. 1-2 (2013). Linhorst, Donald M. et al. "Rearrest and Probation Violation Outcomes Among Probationers Participating in a Jail-Based Substance-Abuse Treatment Used as an Intermediate Sanction." Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 51. No. 8 (2012), Vito, Gennaro F, et al. "Characteristics of Parole Violators in Kentucky" Federal Probation, 76. 2012. Blackburn, Ashley "'It's Technical:' Exploring the Determinants to Technical Probation Revocations Among Felony Probationers." University of North Texas. 2011. Belshaw, Scott H. "Are All Probation Revocations Treated Equal: An Examination of Felony Probation Revocations in a Large Texas County." IJPS, 7. 2011. Grattet, Ryken. et al. "Parole Violations and Revocations in California: Analysis and Suggestions for Action." Federal Probation, 73. 2009. Nancy Rodriguez, Nancy. and Webb, Vincent J. "Probation Violations, Revocations, and Imprisonment: The Decisions of Probation Officers, Prosecutors, and Judges Preand Post-Mandatory Drug Treatment." 2007. "Probation Violations, Revocations, and Imprisonment: The Decisions of Probation Officers, Prosecutors, and Judges Pre- and Post-Mandatory Drug Treatment." 2007. Stickels, John W. "A Study of Probation Revocations for Technical Violations in Hays County, Texas, USA." Probation Journal, 54. No. 1. 2007. Gray, Kevin M. et al. Examining Probation Violations: Who, What, and When?" 2001. https://www.researchgate.net/

- publication/249718584\_Examining\_Probation\_Violations\_Who\_What\_and\_When.
  <sup>19</sup> Herberman, Erinn J. and Bonczar, Thomas P. "Probation and Parole in the United States, 2013. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2014. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ppus13.pdf. Rodriguez, Nancy. and Webb, Vincent J. "Probation Violations, Revocations, and Imprisonment: The Decisions of Probation Officers, Prosecutors, and Judges Pre- and Post-Mandatory Drug Treatment." 2007. https://au.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/probation-violations-revocations-and-imprisonment-the-decisions-o.
- <sup>20</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. "Behavioral Health Trends in the United States: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed Tables." 2015. Tables 6.98A & B, 6.103A & B. https://www.samhsa. gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-FRR1-2014/NSDUH-FRR1-2014.pdf.
- <sup>21</sup> Mitchell, Kelly Lyn. "It's Time to Rethink Probation Terms in Minnesota." Robina Institute of Criminal Law and Criminal Justice. https://robinainstitute.umn.edu/ news-views/it%E2%80%99s-time-rethink-probation-lengths-minnesota.
- <sup>22</sup> See, e.g., Maya Schenwar. "The Quiet Horrors of House Arrest, Electronic Monitoring, and Other Alternative Forms of Incarceration," *Mother Jones Magazine*. January 22, 2015. http://www.motherjones.com/politics/2015/01/house-arrestsurveillance-state-prisons.
- <sup>23</sup> Miron, Jeffrey A. and Waldock, Katherine. "The Budgetary Impact of Ending Drug Prohibition,"The Cato Institute. 2010. https://object.cato.org/sites/cato.org/files/pubs/ pdf/DrugProhibitionWP.pdf
- <sup>24</sup> Henrichson, Christian. and Delaney, Ruth. "The Price of Prisons: What Incarceration Costs Taxpayers." *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 25. No. 1. 2012.
- <sup>25</sup> Jail costs vary substantially. For example, New York City spends more than \$168,000 per person per year to incarcerate someone, while the cost per person per year in Lane County, Oregon, is approximately \$85,000. See Marc Santora. "City's Annual Cost Per Inmate is \$168,000, Study Finds." The New York Times. 2013. http://www.nytimes.com/2013/08/24/nyregion/citys-annual-cost-per-inmate-is-nearly-168000-study-says.html.
- <sup>26</sup> GED Testing Service. "Issues." http://www.gedtestingservice.com/educators/cost.
- <sup>27</sup> See, for example, National Research Council. "The Growth of Incarceration in the United States: Exploring Causes and Consequences". Washington D.C.: The National Academies Press, 2014.
- <sup>28</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. "Quickfacts." https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/ PST045216/00.

### Endnotes

- <sup>29</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. "Crime in the United States, 2015." Table 49A https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s-2015/tables/table-49.
- <sup>30</sup> Carson, E. Ann. "Crime in the United States, 2015." Appendix Tables 5 & 6. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2015. https://www.bjs.gov/ content/pub/pdf/p15.pdf.
- <sup>31</sup> Carson, E. Ann. "Crime in the United States, 2015." Appendix Table 5. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2015. https://www.bjs.gov/ content/pub/pdf/p15.pdf.
- <sup>32</sup> Latino or Hispanic is typically considered a category of ethnicity, not race. Until recently, the FBI Uniform Crime Report did not collect arrest data by ethnicity of person arrested, so all Latinos arrested were counted as white. Only two states, California and New York, collect data by ethnicity and offense. Local law enforcement, court, or correctional employees often miscount Latinos as white when collecting criminal justice data. These deficiencies have the dual effect of (1) making it impossible to know definitively if and to what extent drug possession arrests disproportionately affect Latinos, and (2) inflating the true number of white people arrested, thereby diluting and obscuring the true Black: white disparity. *See* American Civil Liberties Union. "The War on Marijuana in Black and White. 2013. https://www.aclu.org/files/assets/aclu-thewaronmarijuana-rel2.pdf. Hartney, Christopher. and Vuong, Linh. "Created Equal: Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the US. Criminal Justice System." National Council on Crime and Delinquency. 2009. http://www.nccdglobal.org/sites/default/files/publication\_pdf/created-equal.pdf.
- <sup>33</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. "Crime in the United States, 2015." Table 43. https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.-2015.
- See, for example, Levine, Harry and Siegel, Loren. "80 Marijuana Possession Arrests a Day is More of the Same." Marijuana Arrest Research Project. 2014. http:// marijuana-arrests.com/docs/MORE-OF-THE-SAME--NYC-Marijuana-Arrests-June2014.pdf. Levine, Harry., Sieget, Loren. and sayegh, gabriel. "One Million Police Hours: Making 440,000 Marijuana Possession Arrests in New York City, 2002 - 2012." Drug Policy Alliance. 2013. http://www.drugpolicy.org/sites/default/files/ One\_Million\_Police\_Hours\_0.pdf. Harry Levine, et al. "240,000 Marijuana Arrests: Costs, Consequences, and Racial Disparities of Possession Arrests in Washington, 1986 - 2010." Marijuana Arrest Research Project. 2012. http://marijuana-arrests. com/240,000-Marijuana-Arrests-In-Washington.html. Levine, Harry. et al. "241,000 Marijuana Arrests: Costs, Consequences, and Racial Disparities of Possession Arrests in Colorado, 1986 - 2010." Marijuana Arrest Research Project. 2012. http://marijuana-arrests.com/210,000-Marijuana-Arrests-In-Colorado.html. Drug Policy Alliance. "Arresting Blacks for Marijuana in California: Possession Arrests in 25 Cities, 2006 - 08." 2010. http://www.drugpolicy.org/docUploads/ ArrestingBlacks.pdf.
- <sup>35</sup> Finkeldey, Jessica Grace. "The Influence of Skin Color on the Likelihood of Experiencing Arrest in Adulthood" Masters thesis. Bowling Green State University, 2014.
- <sup>36</sup> https://etd.ohiolink.edu/!etd.send\_file?accession=bgsu1403293558&disposition=in line.
- <sup>37</sup> Friedman, Samuel R et al. "Drug Arrests and Injection Drug Deterrence." American Journal of Public Health, 101. No. 2. (2011) 344-49. Friedman, Samuel R et al. "Relationships of Deterrence and Law Enforcement to Drug-Related Harms Among Drug Injectors in U.S. Metropolitan Areas." AIDS, 20. No. 1 (2006) 93-99. Davies, Corey S. et al. "Effects of an Intensive Street-Level Police Intervention on Syringe Exchange Program Use in Philadelphia, PA." American Journal of Public Health, 95. No. 2 (2005) 233-36. Wolfe, D. et al. "Treatment and Care for Injecting Drug Users with HIV Infection: A Review of Barriers and Ways Forward." Lancet, 376. No. 9738 (2010) 355-66. Wood, E. et al. "A Review of Barriers and Facilitators of HIV Treatment Among Injection Drug Users." AIDS, 22. No. 11 (2008) 1247-56.
- <sup>38</sup> Kerr, Thomas et al. "The Public Health and Social Impacts of Drug Market Enforcement: A Review of the Evidence." *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 16. No. 4 (2005) 210-20. Strathdee, S.A. et al. "HIV and Risk Environment for Injecting Drug Users: The Past, Present, and Future." *Lancet*, 376. No. 9737 (2010) 268-284. Stevens, Alex. "Applying Harm Reduction Principles to the Policing of Retain Drug Markets." International Drug Policy Consortium. 2013. Mathers, B.M. et al. "HIV Prevention, Treatment and Care Services for People Who Inject Drugs: A Systematic Review of Global, Regional, and National Coverage." *Lancet*, 375. No.

9719. (2010). Global Commission on Drug Policy. "The War on Drugs and HIV/ AIDS: How the Criminalization of Drug Use Fuels the Global Pandemic. 2013. http://globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-content/themes/gcdp\_v1/pdf/GCDP\_HIV-AIDS\_2012\_REFERENCE.pdf

- <sup>39</sup> Davidson, Peter J. et al. "Witnessing Heroin-Related Overdoses: The Experiences of Young Injectors in San Francisco." Addiction, 97. No. 12 (2002). Lankenau, S.E. et al. "Injection Drug Users Trained by Overdose Prevention Programs: Responses to Witnessed Overdoses." Journal of Community Health, 38. No. 1. 2013. Tracy, M. et al. "Circumstances of Witnessed Drug Overdose in New York City: Implications of Intervention." Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 79. No. 2 (2005). Ochoa, K.C. et al. "Overdosing Among Young Injection Drug Users in San Francisco." Addictive Behavior, 26. No. 3. 2001. Pollini, Robin A. et al. "Response to Overdose Among Injection Drug Users." American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 31. No. 3 (2006).
- <sup>40</sup> Rudd, Rose A et al. "Increases in Drug and Opioid Overdose Deaths United States, 2000-2015." Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 64. No. 50-51. (2016).
- <sup>41</sup> Binswanger, I.A et al. "Risk Factors for All-Cause, Overdose, and Early Deaths After Release from Prison in Washington State." *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 117. No. 1. 2011. Binswanger, I.A et al. "Mortality After Prison Release: Opioid Overdose and Other Causes of Death, Risk Factors, and Time Trends from 1999 to 2009." *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 159. No. 9 (2013). Wakeman, S.E. et al. "Preventing Death Among the Recently Incarcerated: An Argument for Naloxone Prescription Before Release." *Journal of Addiction and Disease*, 28. No. 2 (2009).
- <sup>42</sup> Lloyd, Charlie. "Sinning and Sinned Against: The Stigmatisation of Problem Drug Users." York: University of York. 2010: 53. Livingston, James D et al. "The Effectiveness of Interventions for Reducing Stigma Related to Substance Use Disorders: A Systematic Review." Addiction, 107. No. 1 (2012) 40.
- <sup>43</sup> Levy, Jay. "The Harms of Drug Use: Criminalisation, Misinformation, and Stigma." Youth Rise, International Network of People Who Use Drugs. 2014. http://www. inpud.net/The\_Harms\_of\_Drug\_Use\_JayLevy2014\_INPUD\_YouthRISE.pdf.
- <sup>44</sup> Corrigan, Patrick W et al. "The Public Stigma of Mental Illness and Drug Addiction Findings from a Stratified Random Sample." *Journal of Social Work*, 9. No. 2 (2009). McLaughlin, Daniel and Long, A. "An Extended Literature Review of Health Professionals' Perceptions of Illicit Drugs and Their Clients Who Use Them." *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 3. No. 5 (1996). Lloyd, Charlie. "The Stigmatization of Problem Drug Users: A Narrative Literature Review." Drugs: Education, Prevention, and Policy, 20. No. 2 (2013).
- <sup>45</sup> Luoma, Jason B. et al. "An Investigation of Stigma in Individuals Receiving Treatment for Substance Abuse." Addictive Behaviors, 32. No. 7 (2007). Semple, Shirley J et al. "Utilization of Drug Treatment Programs by Methamphetamine Users: The Role of Social Stigma." American Journal of Addictions, 14. No. 4 (2005). Stringer, Kristi L. "Stigma as a Barrier to Formal Treatment for Substance Use: A Gendered Analysis." Master's thesis, University of Alabama. 2012. http://www.mhsl.uab.edu/ dt/2012m/stringer.pdf. Stringer, Kristi L. and Baker, Elizabeth H. "Stigma as a Barrier to Substance Abuse Treatment Among Those with Unmet Need: An Analysis of Parenthood and Marital Status." Journal of Family Issues. (2015). White, William L. "Long-Term Strategies to Reduce the Stigma Attached to Addiction, Treatment, and Recovery within the City of Philadelphia." Philadelphia, PA: Department of Behavioral Health and Mental Retardation Services. 2009. http://www. williamwhitepapers.com/pt/2009Stigma%26methadone.pdf.
- <sup>46</sup> Treloar, C. et al. "Understanding Barriers to Hepatitis C Virum Care and Stigmatization from a Social Perspective." *Clinical Infections Diseases*, 57. Suppl. 2(2013). Ahern, Jennifer et al. "Stigma, Discrimination, and the Health of Illicit Drug Users." *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 88. No. 2-3 (2007). https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17118578.
- <sup>47</sup> Ahern, Jennifer et al. "Stigma, Discrimination, and the Health of Illicit Drug Users." Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 88. No. 2-3 (2007). https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/17118578. Levy, Jay. "The Harms of Drug Use: Criminalisation, Misinformation, and Stigma." Youth Rise, International Network of People Who Use Drugs. 2014. http://www.inpud.net/The\_Harms\_of\_Drug\_Use\_JayLevy2014\_ INPUD\_YouthRISE.pdf
- <sup>48</sup> Cade, Jason. "The Plea Bargain Crisis for Noncitizens in Misdemeanor Court." *Cardozo Law Review*, 34 (2013) 1754. http://www.cardozolawreview.com/ content/34-5/CADE.34.5.pdf. Roberts, Jenny. "Why Misdemeanors Matter: Defining Effective Advocacy in the Lower Criminal Courts." *U.C. Davis Law Review*, 45 (2011) 277.

- <sup>49</sup> Transactional Records Access Clearinghouse. "Secure Communities and ICE Deportation: A Failed Program?" 2014. http://trac.syr.edu/immigration/reports/349/.
- <sup>50</sup> Meng, Grace. A Price Too High: U.S. Families Tom Apart by Deportations for Drug Offenses. Human Rights Watch. 2015. https://www.hrw.org/report/2015/06/16/pricetoo-high/us-families-torn-apart-deportations-drug-offenses.
- <sup>51</sup> Morawetz, Nancy. "Rethinking Drug Inadmissibility" William & Mary Law Review 50, 1 (2008). 166. http://scholarship.law.wm.edu/wmlr/vol50/iss1/5.
- <sup>52</sup> Meng, Grace. A Price Too High: US Families Torn Apart by Deportations for Drug Offenses. New York: Human Rights Watch, 2015. https://www.hrw.org/ report/2015/06/16/price-too-high/us-families-torn-apart-deportations-drug-offenses.
- <sup>53</sup> American Bar Association. "National Inventory of Collateral Consequences of Conviction." Council for State Governments. https://niccc.csgjusticecenter.org/map/.
- <sup>54</sup> Becker, Sarah. "Because That's What Justice Is to Us: Exploring the Racialized Collateral Consequences of New Parochialism." *Critical Criminology*, 22. No. 2 (2014). Mauer, Marc and Chesney-Lind, Meda. "*Invisible Punishment: The Collateral Consequences of Mass Imprisonment.*" 2002. http://www.sentencingproject. org/publications/invisible-punishment-the-collateral-consequences-of-massimprisonment/. Pinard, Michael. "Collateral Consequences of Criminal Convictions: Confronting Issues of Race and Dignity." New York University Law Review, 85 (2010). Chin, Gabriel J. "Race, the War on Drugs, and the Collateral Consequences of Criminal Conviction." *Journal of Gender, Race, and Justice, 6 (2002).*
- <sup>55</sup> U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs. "Drug Courts." May 2016. https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/238527.pdf.
- See, e.g., Drug Enforcement Agency. "Speaking Out Against Drug Legalization," 2010. ("For those who end up hooked on drugs, there are also programs, like drug courts, that offer non-violent users the option of seeking treatment."). https://www. dea.gov/pr/multimedia-library/publications/speaking\_out.pdf.
- <sup>57</sup> Drug Policy Alliance. "Drug Courts Are Not the Answer: Toward a Health-Centered Approach to Drug Use." March 2011. https://www.drugpolicy.org/docUploads/ Drug\_Courts\_Are\_Not\_the\_Answer\_Final2.pdf.
- <sup>58</sup> Csete, Joanne and Tomasini-Joshi, Denise. Drug Courts: Equivocal Evidence on a Popular Intervention. Open Society Foundations. February 2015. https://www. opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/drug-courts-equivocal-evidencepopular-intervention-20150518.pdf.
- <sup>59</sup> Rossman, Shelli B. et al. "The Multi-Site Drug Court Evaluation: Study Overview and Design, Volume 1," 24. U.S. Department of Justice. December 2011. https:// www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/237109.pdf.
- <sup>60</sup> Sevigny, Eric L. et al. "Can Drug Courts Help to Reduce Prison and Jail Populations?" The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 1 (2013): 647. Pollack, Haroldet al. If Drug Treatment Works So Well, Why Are So Many Drug Users Incarcerated? (Controlling Crime: Strategies and Trade-Offs). Chicago, IL: University
  - of Chicago Press, 2011.
- <sup>61</sup> Arabia, Patricia L. et al. "Sanctioning Practices in an Adult Felony Drug Court." Drug Court Review 6 (2008). Guastaferro, W.P. and Daigle, L.E.. "Linking Noncompliant Behaviors and Programmatic Responses: The Use of Graduated Sanctions in a Felony-Level Drug Court." Journal of Drug Issues 42, no. 4 (2012).
- <sup>62</sup> Sevigny, Eric L., Fuleihan, Brian K. and Ferdik, Frank V.. "Do Drug Courts Reduce the Use of Incarceration? A Meta-Analysis." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 41, no. 6 (2013). Rempel, Michael "The Impact of Adult Drug Courts on Crime and Incarceration: Findings from a Multi-Site Quasi-Experimental Design." *Journal of Experimental Criminology* 8, no. 2 (2012). Tiger, Rebecca. *Judging Addicts: Drug Courts and Coercion in the Justice System.* New York: NYU Press, 2012.
- <sup>63</sup> Huddleston, West and Marlowe, Douglas B. Painting the Current Picture: A National Report Card on Drug Courts and Other Problem-Solving Court Programs in the United States. National Drug Court Institute, 2011. http://www.ndci.org/sites/default/files/ nadcp/PCP%20Report%20FINAL.PDF. Hujar Orr, Cynthia. "America's Problem-Solving Courts: The Criminal Costs of Treatment and the Case for Reform." National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers. 2009. https://www.nacdl.org/drugcourts/. Rossman, Shelli B.et al. "The Multi-Site Drug Court Evaluation: Study Overview and Design, Volume 1," 24. U.S. Department of Justice. December 2011. https:// www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/237109.pdf. Tiger, Rebecca. Judging Addicts: Drug Courts and Coercion in the Justice System. New York: NYU Press, 2012.

- <sup>64</sup> See, e.g., Howard, Daniel. "Race, Neighborhood, and Drug Court Graduation." Justice Quarterly. 2014. MacDonald, John et al. "Decomposing Racial Disparities in Prison and Drug Treatment Commitments for Criminal Offenders in California." The Journal of Legal Studies, 43, No. 1 (2014), Gilbertson, Ben, "Finding Its Place: The Effect of Race on Drug Court Outcomes." Masters Thesis, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2013, http://dc.uwm.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1107&context=etd. Schlesinger, Traci. "Racial Disparities in Pretrial Diversion: An Analysis of Outcomes Among Men Charged with Felonies and Processed in State Courts." Race and Justice, 3. No. 3 (2013). DeVall, K.E and Lanier, C.L, "Successful Completion: An Examination of Factors Influencing Drug Court Completion for White and Non-White Male Participants. Substance Use and Misuse, 47. No. 10 (2012). Gross, Joel. "Effects of Net-Widening on Minority and Indigent Drug Offenders: A Critique of Drug Courts." The University of Maryland Legal Journal on Race, Religion, and Class, 10. (2010). Marlowe, Douglas. "Achieving Racial and Ethnic Fairness in Drug Courts." Court Review, 49. No. 1. (2013). National Association of Drug Court Professionals. "Board Resolution on the Equivalent Treatment of Racial and Ethnic Minority Participants in Drug Courts." 2010. Finigan, Michael W. "Understanding Racial Disparities in Drug Courts." Drug Court Review, 6 (2009). O'Hear, Michael.. "Rethinking Drug Courts: Restorative Justice as a Response to Racial Injustice." Stanford Law and Policy Review, 20 (2009). Brown, R and Gassman, M. "Assistant District Attorney Decision Making When Referring to Drug Treatment Court." American Journal of Addiction, 22. No. 4 (2013). Tiger, Rebecca. Judging Addicts: Drug Courts and Coercion in the Justice System. New York: NYU Press, 2012.
- <sup>65</sup> Mattick, R.P et al. "Methadone Maintenance Therapy Versus No Opioid Replacement Therapy for Opioid Dependence." *Cochrane Database System Review*. No. 3 (2009). Center for Disease Control and Prevention. "Methadone Maintenance Treatment." 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/tr/trt6501e1.htm. World Health Organization. "Substitution Maintenance Therapy in the Management of Opioid Dependence and HIV/AIDS Prevention." 2004. http://www.who.int/ substance\_abuse/publications/en/PositionPaper\_English.pdf. National Institutes of Health, "Effective Medical Treatment of Opiate Addiction." 1997. https://consensus. nih.gov/1997/1998TreatOpiateAddiction108PDF.pdf.
- <sup>66</sup> Matusow, H et al. "Medication Assisted Treatment in U.S. Drug Courts: Results from a Nationwide Survey of Availability, Barriers, and Attitudes." *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 44(5) (2012) 473-80. Friedmann, Peter D et al. "Medication-Assisted Treatment in Criminal Justice Agencies Affiliated with the Criminal Justice – Drug Abuse Treatment Studies." *Substance Abuse*, 33. No. 1. 2011. (Matusow et al.'s national survey of drug courts found that fewer than half of the programs surveyed offered medication-assisted treatments like methadone.)
- <sup>67</sup> National Association of Drug Court Professionals. "Resolution of the Board of Directors on the Availability of Medically Assisted Treatment (M.A.T.) for Addiction in Drug Courts." http://www.nadcp.org/sites/default/files/nadcp/NADCP%20 Board%20Statement%20on%20MAT.pdf.
- <sup>68</sup> American Public Health Association. "A.P.H.A. Policy Statement 201312: Defining and Implementing a Public Health Response to Drug Use and Misuse." 2013. https://www.apha.org/policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policydatabase/2014/07/08/08/04/defining-and-implementing-a-public-health-responseto-drug-use-and-misuse. Rossman, Shelli B et al. "The Multi-Site Drug Court Evaluation: Study Overview and Design, Volume 1." U.S. Department of Justice, December 2011. https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/237109.pdf.
- <sup>69</sup> American Public Health Association. "A.P.H.A. Policy Statement 201312: Defining and Implementing a Public Health Response to Drug Use and Misuse." 2013. https://www.apha.org/policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policydatabase/2014/07/08/08/04/defining-and-implementing-a-public-health-response-todrug-use-and-misuse.
- <sup>70</sup> Rossman, Shelli B et al. "The Multi-Site Drug Court Evaluation: Study Overview and Design, Volume 1." U.S. Department of Justice. December 2011. https://www.ncjrs. gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/237109.pdf.
- <sup>71</sup> See, for example, Degenhardt, Louisaet al. "Towards a Global View of Alcohol. Tobacco, Cannabis, and Cocaine Use: Findings from the WHO World Mental Health Surveys." *PLoS Medicine*, 5. No. 7 (2008). http://journals.plos.org/ plosmedicine/article/file?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.0050141&ctype=printable. Room, Robin et al. "*Cannabis Policy: Moving Beyond Stalemate.*" New York: Oxford University Press, 2010. Reinarman, Craig et al. "The Limited Relevance of Drug Policy: Cannabis in Amsterdam and in San Francisco." *American Journal of Public*

Health, 94. No. 5 (2004). Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Stevens. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?" British Journal of Criminology, 50. No. 6 (2010). Single, Eric W. "The Impact of Marijuana Decriminalization: An Update." Journal of Public Health Policy. (1989). MacCoun, Robert J and Reuter, Peter. "Drug War Heresies: Learning from Other Vices, Times, and Places." Cambridge University Press, 2001. Vuolo, Mike. "National-Level Drug Policy and Young People's Illicit Drug Use: A Multilevel Analysis of the European Union." Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 131. No. 1-2 (2013).

- <sup>72</sup> Organization of American States. "Scenarios for the Drug Problem in the Americas: 2013-2025." 2013. http://www.oas.org/documents/eng/press/Scenarios\_Report.PDF
- <sup>73</sup> Joy, Janet Elizabeth et al. "Marijuana and Medicine: Assessing the Science Base." Washington, D.C.: Institute of Medicine, National Academies Press, 1999, 102.
- <sup>74</sup> Eric Single et al. "The Impact of Cannabis Decriminalisation in Australia and the United States." *Journal of Public Health Policy*. 2000.
- <sup>75</sup> National Research Council. "The Growth of Incarceration in the United States: Exploring Causes and Consequences." Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press, 2014.
- <sup>76</sup> Vuolo, Mike. "National-Level Drug Policy and Young People's Illicit Drug Use: A Multilevel Analysis of the European Union." *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 131. No. 1-2 (2013) 149-56.
- <sup>77</sup> Organization of American States. "The Drug Problem in the Americas: Analytical Report," 93. 2013. http://www.oas.org/documents/eng/press/Introduction\_and\_ Analytical\_Report.pdf
- <sup>78</sup> See, for example, Roeder, Oliver K et al. "What Caused the Crime Decline?" Brennan Centre for Justice, 2015. https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/analysis/ What\_Caused\_The\_Crime\_Decline.pdf.
- <sup>79</sup> Magson, Jessica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust, 2014.
- See, for example, Benson, Bruce L and Rasmussen, David W. "Relationship Between Illicit Drug Enforcement Policy and Property Crimes." Contemporary Economic Policy, 9. No. 4 (1991). Benson, Bruce L et al. "Is Property Crime Caused by Drug Use or by Drug Enforcement Policy?" Applied Economics, 24. No. 7 (1992). Sollars, David L et al. "Drug Enforcement and the Deterrence of Property Crime Among Local Jurisdictions." Public Finance Review, 22. No. 1 (1994).Benson, Bruce L et al. "The Impact of Drug Enforcement on Crime: An Investigation of the Opportunity Cost of Police Resources." Journal of Drug Issues, 31. No. 4. 2001. Benson, Bruce L andKim, Iljoong. "Causes and Consequences of Over-Criminalization."Centre for Economic Research of Korea (CERK), 2014. http://cerk.skku.edu/2014conf/ OverCriminalizationEDITS.pdf
- <sup>81</sup> Magson, Jessica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust. 2014.
- <sup>82</sup> Magson, Jessica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust. 2014.
- <sup>83</sup> Magson, Jessica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust. 2014.
- <sup>84</sup> Laqueur, Hannah. "Uses and Abuses of Drug Decriminalization in Portugal." *Law and Social Inquiry.* (2015). Huges, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "A Resounding Success or a Disastrous Failure: Re-Examining the Interpretation of Evidence on the Portuguese Decriminalisation of Illicit Drugs." *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 31. No. 1 (2012).
- <sup>85</sup> Magson, Jessica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust. 2014.
- <sup>86</sup> Magson, Jessica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust. 2014, Table 2.6.

- <sup>87</sup> Tiger, Rebecca. "Judging Addicts: Drug Courts and Coercion in the Justice System." New York: NYU Press, 2012.
- <sup>88</sup> Schaub, Michael et al. "Predictors of Retention in the 'Voluntary' and 'Quasi-Compulsory' Treatment of Substance Dependence in Europe." *European Addiction Research*, 17. No. 2 (2011). Schaub, Michael et al. "Comparing Outcomes of 'Voluntary' and 'Quasi-Compulsory' Treatment of Substance Dependence in Europe." *European Addiction Research*, 16. No. 1 (2010). McSweeney, T et al. "Twisting Arms or a Helping Hand: Assessing the Impact of 'Coerced' and Comparable 'Voluntary' Drug Treatment Options." *British Journal of Criminology*, 47. No. 3. (2006). Gossop, Michael. "Drug Misuse Treatment and Reductions in Crime: Findings from the National Treatment Outcome Research Study." National Treatment Outcome
- <sup>89</sup> United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, World Health Organization. "Principles of Drug Dependence Treatment: Discussion Paper." 2008. https://www.unodc.org/ documents/drug-treatment/UNODC-WHO-Principles-of-Drug-Dependence-Treatment-March08.pdf. Esser, Marissa B et al. "Prevalence of Alcohol Dependence Among U.S. Adult Drinkers, 2009-2011." Preventing Chronic Disease, 11(2014). United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. "World Drug Report 2014." 2014. https://www.unodc.org/documents/wdr2014/World\_Drug\_Report\_2014\_web.pdf.
- <sup>20</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. "Treatment Episode Data Set (TEDS) 2002-2012: National Admissions to Substance Abuse Treatment Services." July 2014. https:// www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/TEDS2012N\_Web.pdf.
- 91 Biernacki, Patrick. Pathways from Heroin Addiction: Recovery Without Treatment. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1986. See also Klingemann, H.K and L.C. Sobell, L.C. "Introduction: National Recovery Research Across Substance Use." Substance Use and Misuse. 36, 11(2001) 1409-1416. Preble, E and Casey, J.J. "Taking Care of Business: Ther Heroin User's Life on the Streets." International Journal of Addiction, 4 (1969)1-24. Liliegreen, E.J. "Taboo Topics in Addiction Treatment: An Empirical Review of Clinical Folklore." Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 10, 3(1993) 303-316. Granfield, R and Cloud, W. "Social Context and 'Natural Recovery: The Role of Social Capital in the Resolution of Drug-Associated Problems." Journal of Substance Use and Misuse, 36, 11(2001) 1543-1570. Rumpf, H. J et al. "Studies on Natural Recovery from Alcohol Dependence: Sample Selection Bias by Media Solicitation?" Addiction, 95, 5 (2000) 765-775. Sobell, L. C et al. "Natural Recovery from Alcohol and Drug Problems: Methodological Review of the Research with Suggestions for Future Directions." Addiction, 95, 5 (2000) 749-764. Edwards, G. "Natural Recovery is the Only Recovery." Addiction, 95, 5 (2000) 747. Burman, S. "The Challenge of Sobriety: Natural Recovery Without Treatment and Self-Help Groups." Journal of Substance Abuse, 9 (1997) 41-61.
- See, for example, Grella, C. E and Stein, J. A. "Remission from Substance Dependence: Differences Between individuals in a General Population Longitudinal Survey Who Do and Do Not Seek Help." Drug and Alcohol Dependency, 133, No. 1(2013).Slutske, Wendy S. "Why is Natural Recovery So Common for Addictive Disorders?" Addiction, 105, No. 9 (2010). Carballo, Jose Juis et al. "Natural Recovery from Alcohol and Drug Problems: A Methodological Review of the Literature from 1999 through 2005." Promoting Self-Change from Addictive Behaviors, edited by Klingemann, Harold and Carter-Sobell, Linda. New York, NY: Springer, 2007. Williams, Christopher R and Arrigo, Bruce A. "Drug-Taking Behavior, Compulsory Treatment, and Desistance: Implications of Self-Organization and Natural Recovery from Alcohol Problems." The Essential Handbook of Treatment and Prevention of Alcohol Problems, edited by Heather, Nick and Stockwell, Tim. West Sussex: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd., 2004. Granfield, Robert and Cloud, William. "Social Context and 'Natural Recovery:' The Role of Social Capital in the Resolution of Drug-Associated Problems." Substance Use and Misuse, 36. No. 11 (2001). Klingemann, Harold and Sobell, Linda C. "Introduction: Natural Recovery Research Across Substance Use." Substance Use & Misuse, 36. No. 11. 2001. William Cloud and Robert Granfield. "Natural Recovery from Substance Dependency: Lessons for Treatment Providers." Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions, 1. No. 1(2001). Sobell, Linda. C., Ellingstad, T. P., and Sobell, M. B. Natural Recovery from Alcohol and Drug Problems: Methodological Review of the Research with Suggestions for Future Directions.. Addiction, 95, 5 (2000) 749-764.. Edwards, Griffith "Editorial Note: Natural Recovery is the Only Recovery." Addiction, 95. No. 5 (2000). Toncatto,

Tony et al. "Natural Recovery from Cocaine Dependence." *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 13. No. 4 (1999). Burman, Sondra. "The Challenge of Sobriety: Natural Recovery without Treatment and Self-Help Groups." *Journal of Substance Abuse*, 9 (1997). Dan Waldorf and Patrick Biernacki. "The Natural Recovery from Opiate Addiction: Some Preliminary Findings." *Journal of Drug Issues*, 11. No. 1(1981).

- <sup>33</sup> Lopez-Quinetero, C et al. "Probability and Predictors of Remission from Life-Time Nicotine, Alcohol, Cannabis, or Cocaine Dependence: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions." *Addiction*, 106, No. 3 (2011).
- <sup>94</sup> American Public Health Association. "A.P.H.A. Policy Statement 2013: Defining and Implementing an Public Health Response to Drug Use and Misuse." 2013. https://www.apha.org/policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policydatabase/2014/07/08/08/04/defining-and-implementing-a-public-health-response-todrug-use-and-misuse.
- <sup>95</sup> Wild, T. Cameron et al. "Social Pressure, Coercion, and Client Engagement at Treatment Entry: A Self-Determination Theory Perspective." *Addictive Behaviors*, 31. No. 10. 2006.
- <sup>96</sup> McLellan, Thomas et al. "Drug Dependence, A Chronic Medical Illness." Journal of the American Medical Association, 284 (2000) 1689. Cami, Jordi and Farre, Maggi. "Drug Addiction." New England Journal of Medicine, 349 (2003) 975. Dennis, Michael L et al. "The Duration and Correlates of Addiction and Treatment Careers." Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 28. No. 2 (2005) S51-S62. Scott, Christy K et al. "Pathways in the Relapse – Treatment – Recovery Cycle Over Three Years." Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 28 (2005) S63-S72. National Institute on Drug Abuse, Principles, and Effective Drug Addiction Treatment: A Research Based Guide." National Institutes of Health. 2009. http://www.nida.nih.gov/PDF/PODAT/ PODAT.pdf.
- <sup>97</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Services Administration, Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, "Health Insurance Status of Adult Substance Abuse Treatment Admissions Aged 26 or Older: 2011." The TEDS Report. https://www.samhsa.gov/ data/sites/default/files/sr134-health-insurance-2014/sr134-health-insurance-2014/ sr134-health-insurance-2014.htm.
- <sup>98</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. "Results from the 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health." Substance Abuse and Mental Services Administration. 2014. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/ NSDUHresultsPDFWHTML2013/Web/NSDUHresults2013.pdf.
- <sup>99</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. "Results from the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health." Substance Abuse and Mental Services Administration. 2016.
- 100 Gallup. "Illegal Drugs." http://www.gallup.com/poll/1657/illegal-drugs.aspx.
- <sup>101</sup> Jones, Jeffrey M. "In the U.S. 58% Back Legal Marijuana Use." Gallup. 2015. http:// www.gallup.com/poll/186260/back-legal-marijuana.aspx. Ingraham, Christopher. "A Majority Favors Marijuana Legalization for First Time, According to Nation's Most Authoritative Survey. Washington Post. March 4, 2015. https://www.washingtonpost. com/news/wonk/wp/2015/03/04/majority-of-americans-favor-marijuana-legalizationfor-first-time-according-to-the-nations-most-authoritative-survey/.
- <sup>102</sup> The sixteen are CA, CT, DE, IA, ME, MA, MS, NY, PA, SC, TN, UT, VT, WV, WI, and WY.
- <sup>103</sup> The Stanford Justice Advocacy Project. "Proposition 47 Progress Report: Year One Implementation." Stanford Law School. 2015. https://www-cdn.law.stanford.edu/ wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Prop-47-report.pdf.
- <sup>104</sup> County of Los Angeles Public Safety Realignment Team. "Public Safety Realignment: Year-Three Report. 2015: 24-25. ACLU of California. *Changing Gears: California's Shift to Smart Justice*. 2015. https://www.acluca.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ Prop47-1yr-Report-FINAL\_web.pdf. *See also* Sabatini, Joshua. "Thousands of Felony Cases Under Prop. 47 Reduction Review." *San Francisco Examiner*. January 23, 2015. http://www.sfexaminer.com/thousands-of-sf-felony-cases-under-prop-47-reductionreview/.
- <sup>105</sup> Lansdowne, William. "Don't blame Prop. 47 for crime spike." *The Sacramento Bee*. March 10, 2016. http://www.sacbee.com/opinion/op-ed/soapbox/article65046837. html.

- <sup>106</sup> Pew Research Center. "America's New Drug Policy Landscape." Pew Research Center. April 2, 2014. http://www.people-press.org/2014/04/02/americas-new-drug-policylandscape/.
- <sup>107</sup> Public Policy Polling. "Washington, D.C. Survey Results." 2013.
- <sup>108</sup> "New Hampshire Survey Results." 2016. http://www.drugpolicy.org/sites/default/ files/NHResults\_012616.pdf.
- <sup>109</sup> "Maine Survey Results." 2016. http://www.drugpolicy.org/sites/default/files/ MaineResults\_020916.pdf.
- <sup>110</sup> "South Carolina Survey Results." 2016. http://www.drugpolicy.org/sites/default/files/ SC\_poll\_0216\_PPP.pdf.
- <sup>111</sup> Eleven states (CA, CT, DE, ME, MD, MA, MS, NB, NY, RI, VT) consider simple possession of marijuana as an administration or civil infraction. Five states (MN, MO, NV, NC, OH) treat marijuana possession as a misdemeanor without jail time. And four states (OR, AK, WA, and CO) plus Washington D.C. have completely eliminated all penalties for personal possession of marijuana by adults.
- <sup>112</sup> Males, Mike and Buchen, Lizzie. "Reforming Marijuana Laws: Which Approach Best Reduces the Harms of Criminalization? A Five-State Analysis." Center on Juvenile and Criminal Justice. 2014. http://www.cjcj.org/uploads/cjcj/documents/ cjcj\_marijuana\_reform\_comparison.pdf.
- <sup>113</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. "Crime in the United States, 2015." https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2014/crime-in-the-u.s-2014/persons-arrested/main.
- 119 See, e.g., NORML. "State Laws." http://norml.org/laws.
- <sup>115</sup> MacCoun, Robert et al. "Do Citizens Know Whether Their State Has Decriminalized Marijuana? Assessing the Perpetual Component of Deterrence Theory." *Review of Law* and Economics, 5, No. 1 (2009).
- <sup>116</sup> LFA Group. "Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (L.E.A.D.) Program and Evaluation Plan Narrative." 2011. http://static1.1.sqspcdn.com/stat ic/f/1185392/16580068/1329173383853/LFA+Evaluation+Narrative+ +February+2012.pdf?token=Taj8Lsrt2jJ44UOd8MTChByQH1s%3D.
- <sup>117</sup> LFA Group. "Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (L.E.A.D.) Program and Evaluation Plan Narrative." 2011. http://staticl.1.sqspcdn.com/stat ic/f/1185392/16580068/1329173383853/LFA+Evaluation+Narrative++ February+2012.pdf?token=Taj8Lsrr2jJ44UOd8MTChByQH1s%3D.
- <sup>118</sup> Beckett, Katherine. "Seattle's Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion Program: Lessons Learned from the First Two Years." Ford Foundation. 2014. https://ffcontentgrantsviz. blob.core.windows.net/media/2543/2014-lead-process-evaluation.pdf.
- <sup>119</sup> The Defender Association. "L.E.A.D.: A Pre-Booking Diversion Model for Low-Level Drug Offenses." See, for example, http://www.naacp.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/04/LEAD%20concept%20paper.pdf.
- <sup>120</sup> Pugel, James. "Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion." (Paper presented at the Smart Justice Symposium, Spokane, Washington, November 9, 2012.)
- <sup>121</sup> Beckett, Katherine. "Seattle's Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion Program: Lessons Learned from the First Two Years." Ford Foundation. 2014. https://ffcontentgrantsviz. blob.core.windows.net/media/2543/2014-lead-process-evaluation.pdf.
- <sup>122</sup> Collins, Susan E. et al. "LEAD Program Evaluation: Recidivism Report." University of Washington, Harborview Medical Center. 2015.
- <sup>123</sup> "Lead Program Evaluation: Criminal Justice and Legal System Utilization and Associated Costs." University of Washington, Harborview Medical Center. 2015.
- <sup>124</sup> Collins, Susan E. et al. Lead Program Evaluation: Criminal Justice and Legal System Utilization and Associated Costs. University of Washington, Harborview Medical Center. 2015.
- <sup>125</sup> Beckett, Katherine. "Seattle's Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion Program: Lessons Learned from the First Two Years." Ford Foundation. 2014. https://ffcontentgrantsviz. blob.core.windows.net/media/2543/2014-lead-process-evaluation.pdf.
- <sup>126</sup> Beckett, Katherine. Seattle's Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion Program: Lessons Learned from the First Two Years. Ford Foundation. 2014. https://ffcontentgrantsviz. blob.core.windows.net/media/2543/2014-lead-process-evaluation.pdf.
- <sup>127</sup> Beckett, Katherine. Seattle's Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion Program: Lessons Learned from the First Two Years. Ford Foundation. 2014. https://ffcontentgrantsviz. blob.core.windows.net/media/2543/2014-lead-process-evaluation.pdf.
- <sup>128</sup> LEAD Task Force City of Santa Fe. "Healthy Families, Safer Streets: City of Santa Fe's LEAD Task Force: Recommendations to the City Council." 2013.
- <sup>129</sup> Austin, Roy L. "LEAD-ing the Way to a More Efficient Criminal Justice System." The White House (Page no longer available.)

- <sup>130</sup> Brooks, Megan. "Drug Overdose Now Leading Cause of Injury-Related Deaths." *Medscape.* June 17, 2015. http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/846636.
- <sup>131</sup> Drug Policy Alliance. "State Legislation: Overdose Prevention." January 2016. http://www.drugpolicy.org/sites/default/files/Fact%20Sheet\_State%20based%20 Overdose%20Prevention%20Legislation%20%28January%202016%29.pdf.
- <sup>132</sup> Strang, J et al. "Preventing opiate overdose deaths with emergency naloxone: medico-legal consideration of new potential providers and contexts." *British Medical Journal*, 3 (2005). Davidson, Peter et al. "Witnessing Heroin-Related Overdoses: The Experiences of Young Injectors in San Francisco." *Addiction*, 97, No. 12, (2003) 1511-16. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/10998629\_Witnessing\_heroinrelated\_overdoses\_The\_experiences\_of\_young\_injectors\_in\_San\_Francisco.
- <sup>133</sup> Strang, J et al. "Preventing opiate overdose deaths with emergency naloxone: medicolegal consideration of new potential providers and contexts." *British Medical Journal*, 3. 16 September, 2005. Davidson, Peter et al. "Witnessing Heroin-Related Overdoses: The Experiences of Young Injectors in San Francisco." *Addiction*, 97, No. 12 (2003) 1511-16. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/10998629\_Witnessing\_heroin-related\_overdoses\_The\_experiences\_of\_young\_injectors\_in\_San\_Francisco. Tracy, M et al. "Circumstances of witnessed drug overdose in New York Ciry: implications for intervention." *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 79, No. 2, (2005) 181-90. *See* https://www.ncbi.nlm.nii.gov/pubmed/16002027.
- <sup>134</sup> Utah, Indiana and Virginia have adopted laws providing for mitigation in cases of good-faith reporting of an overdose, but these states do not provide immunity. Michigan adopted a 911 Good Samaritan law that applies to minors only.
- <sup>135</sup> Banta-Green, C. J et al., "Washington's 911 Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Law - Initial Evaluation Results," Alcohol & Drug Abuse Institute, University of Washington, 2011; Banta-Green, C. J et al., "Police Officers' and Paramedics' Experiences with Overdose and Their Knowledge and Opinions of Washington State's Drug Overdose-Naloxone-Good Samaritan Law," *Journal of Urban Health*, 90, no. 6, 2013 1102-1111.
- <sup>136</sup> European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. *Annual Report on the State of the Drugs Problem in the European Union*. Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2000.
- <sup>137</sup> Instituto Português da Droga e da Toxicodependência. Report to the EMCDDA Portugal: Drug Situation 2000. Lisbon: IPDT, 2000.
- <sup>138</sup> Stevens, Alex. "Portuguese Drug Policy Shows That Decriminalisation Can Work, but Only Alongside Improvements in Health and Social Policies," *London School* of *Economics Blog.* 2012; Domoslawski, Artur.Drug Policy in Portugal: The Benefits of Decriminalizing Drug Use. Open Society Foundations, 2011.; Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Alex Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?" The British Journal of Criminology, 50, 6, (2010) 999-1022. de Andrade, Paula Vale and Carapinha, Ludmila. "Drug Decriminalisation in Portugal," The BMJ, 341,. 2010. c4554. Berger, Lisa. "Drug Policy in Portugal: An Interview with Helen Redmond, Lcsw, Cadc," Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions 13, no. 2 (2013). Queiroz, Mario "Q&A: "In Portugal, We Fight the Illness, Not the People Who Suffer from It"," *Inter-Press Service*. 2012. In addition, other indirect factors such as an aging population of people who use heroin may account for some of the declines in problematic drug use and associated health consequences.
- <sup>139</sup> Domoslawski, Artur. Drug Policy in Portugal: The Benefits of Decriminalizing Drug Use. Open Society Foundations.2011.
- <sup>140</sup> Laqueur, Hannah. "Uses and Abuses of Drug Decriminalization in Portugal" Law & Social Inquiry (2014) https://www.law.berkeley.edu/files/Laqueur\_%282014%29\_-\_Uses\_and\_Abuses\_of\_Drug\_Decriminalization\_in\_Portugal\_-\_LSI.pdf; Domoslawski, Artur. Drug Policy in Portugal: The Benefits of Decriminalizing Drug Use. Open Society Foundations, 2011. https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/drug-policy-in-portugal-english-20120814.pdf; Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn From the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?" The British Journal of Criminology, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022; Andrade, Paula Vale de and Carapinha, Ludmila. "Drug Decriminalization in Portugal" The BMJ (2010).
- <sup>141</sup> Domosławski, Artur. Drug Policy in Portugal: The Benefits of Decriminalizing Drug Use. Open Society Foundations. 2011. Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?," The British Journal of Criminlogy, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022.

- <sup>142</sup> Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?" *The British Journal of Criminology*, 50(6), 999-1022. 2010.. Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "A Resounding Success or a Disastrous Failure: Re-Examining the Interpretation of Evidence on the Portuguese Decriminalisation of Illicit Drugs." *Drug and Alcohol Review*. 33, 1 (2012)
- <sup>143</sup> Slight increases in lifetime use of some drugs have occurred but appear to be part of a regional trend – and likely reflective of increased experimentation, since rates of current drug use have not changed significantly. See Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?." The British Journal of Criminology, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. 2013 National Report (2012 Data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal. Lisbon: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA), 2014. http://www. emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index213792EN.html.
- <sup>144</sup> "2013 National Report (2012 Data) to the Emcdda by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal."
- <sup>145</sup> Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?," *The British Journal of Criminology*, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022. Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "A Resounding Success or a Disastrous Failure: Re-Examining the Interpretation of Evidence on the Portuguese Decriminalisation of Illicit Drugs," *Drug and Alcohol Review*. 33, 1 (2012) 109.
- <sup>146</sup> Casimiro Balsa, Casimiro et al. Ao Consumo De Substâncias Psicoativas Na População Portuguesa, 2012: Relatório Preliminar. Lisbon: CESNOVA – Centro de Estudos de Sociologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa, 2013. Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?," The British Journal of Criminology, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022. Ferreira, Mafalda et al. "Risk Behaviour: Substance Use among Portuguese Adolescents," Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences. 29, 2011
- <sup>147</sup> Félix, Sonia and Portugal, Pedro "Drug Decriminalization and the Price of Illicit Drugs," *Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA)*. 2015.
- <sup>48</sup> Balsa, Casimiro et al. Ao Consumo De Substâncias Psicoativas Na População Portuguesa. Servico de Intervencao nos Comportamentos Aditivos e nas Dependencias, 2012: Relatório Preliminar; Institute on Drugs and Drug Addiction (IDT), 2012 National Report (2011 Data) to the EMCDDA. by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal - New Development, Trends and in-Depth Information on Selected Issues," (Lisbon: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA), 2013), http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index214059EN.html.
- <sup>149</sup> Serviço de Intervenção nos Comportamentos e nas Dependências (SICAD), "Relatório Anual 2013 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências,",2014. Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?," *The British Journal of Criminology*, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022.
- <sup>150</sup> Serviço de Intervenção nos Comportamentos e nas Dependências (SICAD), "Relatório Anual 2013 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências,",2014. Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?," *The British Journal of Criminology*, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022. (SICAD), "Relatório Anual 2013 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências."
- 151 "Relatório Anual 2013 a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências."
- <sup>152</sup> Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?," *The British Journal of Criminology*, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022. "Relatório Anual 2013 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências," 105. While Portugal's decriminalization law only applies to possession of ten days' supply of drugs, it seems the policy has also led to lower frequency and reduced severity of prison sentences for so-called "user-sellers" – those who may be selling small amounts to support their own use. See Laqueur, "Uses and Abuses of Drug Decriminalization in Portugal."
- <sup>153</sup> Goncalves, R et al. "A Social Cost Perspective in the Wake of the Portuguese Strategy for the Fight against Drugs," *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 2014.

- <sup>154</sup> Serviço de Intervenção nos Comportamentos e nas Dependências (SICAD), "Relatório Anual 2013 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências,",2014. Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?," *The British Journal of Criminology*, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022. Instituto da Droga e da Toxicodependência, "Relatório Anual 2011 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências,", 2012.. As a result of changes to Portugal's national treatment data collection and reporting processes, data published after 2011 are not directly comparable to data published before 2011. Laqueur, Hannah. "Uses and Abuses of Drug Decriminalization in Portugal." *Law & Social Inquiry*, 40, 3 (2015) 746-781.
- <sup>155</sup> Balsa, Vital, and Urbano, "Ao Consumo De Substâncias Psicoativas Na População Portuguesa, 2012: Relatório Preliminar; (SICAD), "Relatório Anual 2013 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências."
- <sup>156</sup> "Relatório Anual 2013 a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências," Anexo, Quadro 40, p. 55.
- <sup>157</sup> Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "A Resounding Success or a Disastrous Failure: Re-Examining the Interpretation of Evidence on the Portuguese Decriminalisation of Illicit Drugs," *Drug and Alcohol Review.* 33, 1. (2012); (SICAD), "Relatório Anual 2013 – a Situação Do País Em Matéria De Drogas E Toxicodependências," 64.
- <sup>158</sup> Grenfell, Pippa et al. Accessibility and Integration of Hiv, Tb and Harm Reduction Services for People Who Inject Drugs in Portugal: A Rapid Assessment. World Health Organization, 2012.
- <sup>159</sup> Gonçalves, Ricardo et al. "A Social Cost Perspective in the Wake of the Portuguese Strategy for the Fight against Drugs," *International Journal of Drug Policy*. 199-209, 2014.. The social costs included health-related or non-health related, as well as direct or indirect costs, and were as follows: treatment, prevention and risk/harm reduction of drugs; health costs associated with consequences of drug use (hepatitis and HIV/ AIDS); social rehabilitation; legal system costs associated with drugs; lost income and production due to drug addiction treatment; lost income and production due to drug-related deaths; lost income and production of individuals arrested because of drug related crimes. The study notes that because of lack of available data it was forced to leave out many other cost categories, thus the true reduction in social cost is likely an underestimate.
- 160 Ibid., 199.
- <sup>161</sup> Hughes, Caitlin Elizabeth and Stevens, Alex. "What Can We Learn from the Portuguese Decriminalization of Illicit Drugs?" *The British Journal of Criminology*, 50, 6 (2010) 999-1022.
- <sup>162</sup> Hawkes, Nigel. "Highs and Lows of Drug Decriminalisation," The BMJ, 343, 2011.
- <sup>163</sup> Magson, Jessica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust, 2014.."
- <sup>164</sup> United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), "World Drug Report 2009,"http://www.unodc.org/documents/wdr/WDR\_2009/WDR09\_eng\_web.pdf.
  <sup>165</sup> Keilman, John. "Portugal Decriminalized All Drugs in 2001; What Can It Teach
- Illinois?," Chicago Tribune, May 1 2013. <sup>166</sup> Zabransky, T. et al., "Impact Analysis Project of New Drugs Legislation (Summary
- Final Report)," ed. Secretariat of the National Drug Commission Office of the Czech Governmment, Prague, 2001. Room, Robin and Reuter, Peter. "How Well Do International Drug Conventions Protect Public Health?," *The Lancet*, 379, no. 9810, (2012).
- <sup>167</sup> Rosmarin, Ari and Eastwood, Niamh. A Quiet Revolution: Drug Decriminalisation Policies in Practice across the Globe London: Release, 2012.Csete, Joanne. A Balancing Act: Policymaking on Illicit Drugs in the Czech Republic New York: Open Society Foundations, 2012. Magson, Jassica. "Drugs, Crime, and Decriminalisation: Examining the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on Judicial Efficiency." Winston Churchill Memorial Trust, 2014. Mravcik, Victor. "(De)Criminalisation of Possession of Drugs for Personal Use - a View from the Czech Republic," International Journal of Drug Policy, 26(7), 705-707, 2015.
- <sup>168</sup> Cerveny, Jakub et al., "Cannabis Decriminalization and the Age of Onset of Cannabis Use," Center for Economic Research, tilburg University, 2015.
- <sup>169</sup> Mravcik, Victor. "(De)Criminalisation of Possession of Drugs for Personal Use a View from the Czech Republic." International Journal of Drug Policy, 26, 7 (2015) 705-707.

- <sup>170</sup> Stevens, Alex. Drugs, Crime and Public Health: The Political Economy of Drug Policy. : Routledge, 2011. Grund, Jean-Paul and Breeksema, Joost. Coffee Shops and Compromise: Separated Illicit Drug Markets in the Netherlands. New York: Open Society Foundations, 2013. European Monitoring Centre on Drugs and Drugs Addiction, "Country Overview: Netherlands," http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/ publications/country-overviews/nl/data-sheet; European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2012 National Report (2011 Data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Netherlands - Drug Situation in the Netherlands" Lisbon: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA), 2013. http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index213792EN.html.
- <sup>171</sup> Tinajero, Jorge Hernández and Angles, Carlos Zamudio. Mexico: The Law Against Small-Scale Drug Dealing: A Doubtful Venture," Transnational Institute, 2009. http:// www.tni.org/sites/www.tni.org/files/download/dlr3.pdf; Hernandez, Ana Paula. Drug Legislation and the Prison Situation in Mexico. Transnational Institute and Washington Office on Latin America, 2011. Russoniello, Kellen.. "The Devil (and Drugs) in the Details: Portugal's Focus on Public Health as a Model for Decriminalization of Drugs in Mexico," Yale Journal of Health Policy. Law, and Ethics 12, no. 2, 2013. Catalina Perez Correa. "(Des) Proporcionalidad Y Delitos Contra La Salud En México," CIDE, 2012. Carlos Alberto Zamudio Angles and Asael Santos Santiago, "La Aplicación De La Ley Contra El Narcomenudeo: El Nuevo Reto Para Las Instituciones De Seguridad Y Justicia De La Ciudad De México," Revista El Tribunal Superior de Justicia del Distrito Federal 6, 15, 2013.
- <sup>172</sup> Nigel Hawkes, "Highs and Lows of Drug Decriminalisation," The BMJ, 343, 2011. Russoniello, Kellen. "The Devil (and Drugs) in the Details: Portugal's Focus on Public Health as a Model for Decriminalization of Drugs in Mexico." Yale Journal of Health Policy, Law, and Ethics, 12, 2, 2013.
- <sup>173</sup> Zamudio Angles, Alberto and Santos Santiago, Asael. "La Aplicación De La Ley Contra El Narcomenudeo: El Nuevo Reto Para Las Instituciones De Seguridad Y Justicia De La Ciudad De México." (noting "those who are arrested for possession (not motivated by profit) are usually users who were found in possession because they were using in public, or because they were frisked by cops who found them suspicious.")
- <sup>174</sup> Csete, Joanne et al., "Public Health and International Drug Policy," *The Lancet* (2016).
- <sup>175</sup> World Health Organization, "Policy Brief: H.I.V. Prevention, Diagnosis, Treatment and Care for Key Populations: Consolidated Guidelines July 2014," (Geneva: World Health Organization, 2014), 91.
- <sup>176</sup> American Public Health Association, "A.P.H.A. Policy Statement 201312: Defining and Implementing a Public Health Response to Drug Use and Misuse."
- <sup>177</sup> Organization of American States, "The Drug Problem in the Americas: Analytical Report." 2013. http://www.oas.org/documents/eng/press/Introduction\_and\_ Analytical\_Report.pdf
- <sup>178</sup> Human Rights Watch, "Americas: Decriminalize Personal Use of Drugs; Reform Policies to Curb Violence, Abuse,"2013. https://www.hrw.org/news/2013/06/04/ americas-decriminalize-personal-use-drugs
- <sup>179</sup> Global Commission on Drug Policy, "Report of the Global Commission on Drug Policy," 2011. https://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-content/themes/ gcdp\_v1/pdf/Global\_Commission\_Report\_English.pdf
- <sup>180</sup> Global Commission on Drug Policy, "Taking Control: Pathways to Drug Policies That Work," 2014. http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/03/GCDP\_2014\_taking-control\_EN.pdf
- <sup>181</sup> International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, "Statement to the United Nations Commission on Narcotic Drugs, 55th Session", 2012. http:// www.ifrc.org/en/news-and-media/opinions-and-positions/speeches/2012/to-thecommission-on-narcotic-drugs-55th-session/
- <sup>182</sup> NAACP website, http://www.naacp.org (accessed June 29, 2014).
- <sup>183</sup> NAACP National Board of Directors, "Exit Strategy to End the War on Drugs," Houston, Texas: NAACP, 2012.
- <sup>184</sup> National Latino Congreso, "Resolution 11.03 Resolution to Explore Alternatives to Drug Prohibition in Order to Reduce Drug-Related Harm and Eliminate Violence Along the United States-Mexico Border," 2010.

### Endnotes

continued

- <sup>185</sup> Scientific Consultation Working Group on Drug Policy United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), Health and Human Rights,, "Scientific Consultation: "Science Addressing Drugs and Health: State of the Art": Recommendations on Drug Prevention, Treatment and Rehabilitation," United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), 2014.
- <sup>186</sup> Global Commission on HIV and the Law, "H.I.V. And the Law: Risks, Rights & Health," (New York: Secretariat, Global Commission on HIV and the Law, United Nations Development Programme, HIV/AIDS Group, 2012), 35.
- <sup>187</sup> International Federation of Catholic Universities, "Drug Policies in Latin America and Asia: Towards the Construction of Responses Focused on Human Rights," 2013.
- <sup>188</sup> National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers (NACDL), "Resolution of the Board of Directors of the National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers Calling for an End to the War on Drugs," 2000.
- <sup>189</sup> Boruchowitz, Robert C., Brink, Malia N and Maureen Dimino, *Minor Crimes, Massive Waste: The Terrible Toll of America's Broken Misdemeanor Courts.* National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers (2009).
- <sup>190</sup> Sign-on letter signed by over 50 drug policy and human rights organizations, including American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU), United States; Centro de Derechos Humanos Miguel Agustín- Prodh, Mexico; Comisión de Justicia y Paz, Colombia; Comisión Ecuménica de Derechos Humanos(CEDHU), Ecuador; Instituto Latinoamericano de Seguridad y Democracia- ILSED; México Unido Contra la Delincuencia (MUCD), México; Plataforma Interamericana de Derechos Humanos, Democracia y Desarrollo (PIDHDD); Transnational Institute (TNI); and Washington Office on Latin America – (WOLA), United States.
- <sup>191</sup> West African Commission on Drugs, "Not Just in Transit: Drugs, the State and Society in West Africa," 2014. http://www.wacommissionondrugs.org/report/
- <sup>192</sup> "The Vienna Declaration," http://www.viennadeclaration.com/.



California Los Angeles, CA la@drugpolicy.org

Bay Area, CA oakland@drugpolicy.org

**Colorado** Denver, CO co@drugpolicy.org

**District of Columbia** Washington, D.C. dc@drugpolicy.org

New Jersey Trenton, NJ nj@drugpolicy.org

New Mexico Santa Fe, NM nm@drugpolicy.org

New York Drug Policy Alliance Headquarters New York, NY 212.613.8020 voice 212.613.8021 fax nyc@drugpolicy.org

www.drugpolicy.org

We are the Drug Policy Alliance.